
Please ask for Christine Morgan: Telephone 01775 764454 
e-mail: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

AGENDA

Committee - PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL

Date & Time - Wednesday, 2 May 2018 at 6.30 pm

Venue - Council Chamber, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding

Membership of the Performance Monitoring Panel:

Councillors: B Alcock (Chairman), G R Aley, J R Astill, M D Booth (Vice-Chairman), 
C J T H Brewis, T A Carter, G K Dark, P C Foyster, J L King, J D McLean, A M Newton, 
M D Seymour, A C Tennant and Whitbourn

Substitute members on the Performance Monitoring Panel may be appointed only 
from members who are not on the Cabinet.  Substitutions apply for individual 
meetings only. 

Quorum: 5

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn their mobile telephones to 

silent mode

Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE

Date:   24 April 2018



A G E N D A

1 Apologies for absence. 

2 Declaration of Interests. - Where a Councillor has a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest the Councillor must declare the interest to the 
meeting and leave the room without participating in any discussion or 
making a statement on the item, except where a councillor is permitted 
to remain as a result of a grant of dispensation.

3 Crime and Disorder Update - To provide members with an update on 
Community Safety Partnership work at a county and local level (report of 
the Executive Director Place enclosed).

The following will be in attendance:

 Portfolio Holder – Communities and Facilities, Councillor G Taylor
 Detective Chief Superintendent, Chris Davison

(Pages 
5 - 24)

4 Swimming Pool and Leisure Facilities Contract Task Group - To provide 
members with an update on the recommendations (report of the 
Executive Director Place enclosed).

(Pages 
25 - 34)

5 Review of Housing Allocations Policy - To provide an update on the 
current review of the Housing Allocations Policy (report of the Executive 
Director Place and the Portfolio Holder Housing and Health enclosed).

(Pages 
35 - 38)

6 Re-Letting of Void Properties Task Group - To present an update on the 
current situation (report of the Executive Director Place enclosed).

(Pages 
39 - 42)

7 Minutes - To sign as a correct record the minutes of the following 
meeting(s):

a)  Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development 
Panel - 25 January 2018 (copy enclosed)

(Pages 
43 - 48)

b)  Performance Monitoring Panel - 6 February 2018 (copy enclosed) (Pages 
49 - 62)

8 Questions asked under Standing Order 6 

9 Tracking of Recommendations - To consider responses of the Cabinet 
to reports of the Panel.

10 Items referred from the Policy Development Panel. 

11 Key Decision Plan - To note the current Key Decision Plan (Pages 
63 - 68)



12 Quarter 4 2017-18 Performance Overview Report - To provide an 
update on Council performance for the period 1 January 2018 to 31 
March 2018 (report of the Executive Director, Strategy and Governance 
enclosed).

(Pages 
69 - 94)

13 Section 106 monies - To respond to an information request from 
Performance Monitoring Panel from August 2017 (report of the 
Executive Director Place enclosed).

(Pages 
95 - 
100)

14 Emergency Response - To provide information on how the Authority 
would respond in an emergency situation (report of the Portfolio Holder 
Place and the Executive Director Place enclosed).

(Pages 
101 - 
108)

15 Economic Development - To provide an update on Economic 
Development over the last 6 months (report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Growth and Commercialisation and the Executive Director 
Commercialisation enclosed).

(Pages 
109 - 
116)

16 Commercialisation - The Panel will receive a presentation on the 
Council’s Delivery programme, and how Commercialisation 
opportunities are being considered by the Delivery Unit.

17 Performance Monitoring Panel Work Programme - To set out the Work 
Programme of the Performance Monitoring Panel (report of the 
Executive Manager Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer) enclosed).

(Pages 
117 - 
124)

18 Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent - 

NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 
circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the 
Chairman is of the opinion that the item(s) should be 
considered as a matter of urgency.



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Rob Walker, Executive Director Place

To: Performance Monitoring Panel – 2 May 2018

(Author: Emily Holmes Communities Manager)

Subject: Crime and Disorder Update 

Purpose: To provide Members with an update on Community Safety Partnership work 
at a county and local level

Recommendation(s): 
 
1) That the content of the report be noted
2) Members consider areas of focus to be included in future update reports

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Performance Monitoring Panel request twice yearly updates on partnership arrangements 
for Community Safety.  There have been some fundamental changes to the structure of 
the county community safety partnership arrangements during 2017; these are outlined in 
this report.  An update on local multi-agency work is also provided.  

1.2    The Safer Lincolnshire Partnership (SLP)

The Safer Lincolnshire Partnership, as the informally-merged community safety 
partnership for Lincolnshire, has the following statutory duties:

 To prepare and implement a partnership plan that sets out a strategy for the reduction 
of reoffending, crime and disorder, combating substance misuse, community 
engagement and addressing the priorities identified in the strategic assessment

 To set up protocols and systems for information sharing
 To regularly engage and consult with the public about their community safety priorities 

and issues
 To hold one or more public meetings during each year
 To commission Domestic Homicide Reviews following notification from the Police of a 

domestic homicide

Aims
The Safer Lincolnshire Partnership is the single multi-agency forum for addressing 
community safety issues across Lincolnshire. The SLP aims to:

 Reduce crime and disorder and increase the safety of individuals and communities 
across Lincolnshire

 Ensure those living, working or visiting Lincolnshire feel safe and are equipped to cope 
with any hazards or threats they may encounter

 Improve communication, coordination and cooperation between agencies allowing them 
to work together more efficiently and effectively

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



1.2.1 The Safer Lincolnshire Partnership consists of:

 The SLP-Overview and Scrutiny Board – represents the views of the public within the 
SLP and oversees and scrutinises partnership activity and decisions

 The SLP-Strategy Board – is responsible for devising and implementing a strategic 
plan to address SLP priorities

 4 Core Priority Groups (CPGs) – each brings together experts and critical agencies to 
plan and carry out the partnership work on each priority

The SLP works closely with other statutory boards such as the Lincolnshire Safeguarding 
Adults Board, Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children's Board, Lincolnshire Health and 
Wellbeing Board and the Lincolnshire Road Safety Partnership.

1.2.2  Strategic Assessment and Core Priority Groups

During 2017, all partners were invited to submit information regarding their organisations’ 
experience of a range of community safety issues.  A scoring system was used to rank the 
issues by likelihood and capability.  Both the Overview and Scrutiny Board and Strategic 
Group reviewed the strategic assessment to identify 4 Core Priorities for the partnership.

Core Priorities are broad areas of community safety identified by the strategic assessment 
as requiring partnership attention and action.  A Core Priority Group of key partners for each 
of the priorities has been formed and each group has been assigned focuses by the 
Strategy Group.  

2018-2021 Priorities

The Safer Lincolnshire Partnership has identified the following core priorities for 2018-2021:

 Anti-social Behaviour
 Domestic Abuse
 Reducing Offending
 Serious and Organised Crime

Serious and Organised Crime is the term used to encapsulate a broad range of criminal 
activity. The SLP has identified the 2 most important areas of serious and organised crime 
requiring partnership action in Lincolnshire as Modern Day Slavery and Fraud.

Appendix A provides a summary of the Core Priority Groups.

The Safer Lincolnshire Partnership has also identified the following emerging issues:

 Mental Health
 Substance Misuse
 Information Sharing

All meetings for the year have been scheduled and updates on progress of the partnership 
can be provided at future meetings.

Page 6



1.3     Countywide Multi-agency Case Management System

An example of the countywide partnership work is the procurement of the new multi-agency 
Anti Social Behaviour case management system which goes live in May.  The new system, 
E-CINS, provides multi-agency partnerships with a secure, encrypted, cloud-based central 
hub where officers across organisations and departments can manage, collaborate, share, 
task and provide support for the victim.  It also enables audit and evidence and greater 
case supervision.  The system is updated live and in real time giving officers across 
agencies current and updated information.  It can be accessed remotely via the internet on 
any device, facilitating agile working. 

Key capabilities include: 

 Provides the ability to identify persons and cases of greatest risk and vulnerability
 Mapping tool to help highlight hotspot locations
 Creates an environment where everyone knows what everyone else is doing in 

compliance with Data Protection 
 Enables multi-agency, cross-border information sharing
 Improves communication both within each organisation and across partners

All essential users will receive training.  There will also be two users within the council that 
will become super users and can train all new starters and any other officers that would 
benefit from using the system.

1.4     Communication and Engagement

1.4.1 Surveys

The county wide Community Safety Survey was undertaken in 2017 and the information 
has been used to help shape the focus of the Safer Lincolnshire Partnership.  It also 
provided useful information to partners working across the county.  The Lincolnshire Crime 
and Policing Survey was also undertaken last financial year.  The data is being analysed 
and will inform work taking place in 2018.  Lincolnshire is supporting the National Rural 
Crime Survey in 2018.  The survey aims;

 To understand under reporting, by measuring the scale and nature of rural crime and 
anti-social behaviour.  This is to allow local agencies to understand, cost and respond 
to the demands of local policing.

 To determine the extent to which current underreporting of crime in rural communities is 
masking the true picture, and assess whether this has changed since the 2015 survey.

 To find out what the perceptions of rural policing are, allowing agencies to understand 
the challenge of providing reassurance to rural communities

 To discover the extent to which initiatives implemented in response to the 2015 findings 
have made a difference to rural communities.

1.4.2   Communication and Feedback 

This continues to be a key focus for officers within the team and partnerships locally as well 
as a key focus of the Safer Lincolnshire Partnership.  Providing timely feedback to victims 
and to local communities is important, to address their concerns, provide reassurance and 
reduce the fear of crime.  There are challenges when results of action taken or updates 
cannot be shared, or only limited feedback can be provided.  Direct feedback can only be 
given to the victim and the alleged perpetrator as officers must comply with obligations 
under the Data Protection Act.  On other occasions, when higher level courses of action are 

Page 7



taken as part of the incremental approach, the results of an investigation may only be 
publicly available after a Court hearing and often some time after the incidents have taken 
place.  Partners are actively looking at ways that information can be shared more quickly, 
future options will include an increase in social media to provide updates.  

1.4.3  Key Campaigns

Since last update, the Council has supported two key campaigns.  These were;
  
White Ribbon: The 25th November marked International Day for the Elimination of 
Violence Against Women. The day is traditionally marked by the wearing of a White Ribbon 
which represents a pledge never to commit, excuse or remain silent about male violence. 
The campaign’s message to men is to practice tolerance, respect and kindness, and for 
everyone to stand up against male violence, bullying and sexism in all forms. South Holland 
District Council raised a White Ribbon flag outside the Council Offices to show support of 
the campaign.

Hate Crime awareness week: In October, the Council supported Hate Crime awareness 
week through our social media. National Hate Crime Awareness Week aims to highlight the 
issue of hate crime and encourage victims, and anyone who knows or suspects incidents of 
such crime, to report them.  Hate crime can take many forms, such as assault, harassment 
or abuse, but all incidents share one thing in common - victims are targeted for simply 
being who they are. People can be targeted because of hostility or prejudice towards their 
race, sexuality, religion, disability or transgender identity, amongst other examples.
Many victims do not report these incidents and endure harassment for a long time. The 
annual campaign aims to reassure victims that they do not have to tolerate abuse and it is 
important to report such incidents, whether it's just one isolated incident or repeated 
harassment by the same person or group of people. Hate crime also applies to social 
media activity and should be reported in the same way as more conventional forms of 
abuse.

The campaigns for 2018/19 will focus on the themes for the Core Priorities as well as those 
topics that need a particular focus in South Holland.  Operation REPEAT (Reinforcing 
Elderly Persons Education at All Times) will continue to be supported with additional 
training and briefings.  A consistent message that will run throughout the year will be to 
continue to focus on the importance of reporting in concerns and supporting residents to do 
so.  

1.5     Operational Partnerships

Following the internal service review in 2017, further opportunities to bring together 
resources, skills and teams have been investigated.  In November 2017, a pilot project 
trialling the hot-desking of 3 officers from Lincolnshire Police within the Council’s 
Community Safety and Enforcement team in Priory Road commenced.  This project is 
known as the Operational Partnership Team (OPT).
The benefits seen so far have been;

 By having both agencies working together, both agencies have been able to see the 
impact of the organisational processes on the other.  This understanding has resulted 
in tighter timescales being put in place to take action through the incremental 
approach already in place.  The result is that warnings are being issued more quickly 
to those individuals who have been identified as being involved in anti social 
behaviour.

Page 8



 In March, officers from the OPT carried out training to the Neighbourhood Policing 
Teams (NPT’s). The ethos behind the training was to share what had been learnt 
already within the OPT in terms of good practice but also to help upskill all Officers 
and PCSO’s.  The agenda for the day focussed on Incident Management & 
Processes, Understanding Victims & Offenders and a refresher on the Anti Social 
Behaviour legislation. The day also included a scenario based session to put what had 
been learnt into practice. The feedback from the training was positive and this will be 
developed further.  

 By working in the same office, agency contacts have been strengthened. A good 
example of this is the support of the Crime Prevention Tactical Advisor who works for 
Lincolnshire Police. This post is now regularly working with the joint agency team to 
carry out Environmental Visual Audits to make recommendations to reduce future anti-
social behaviour in hotspot locations. The team have also developed a trial to use 
resources from the tactical support unit in terms of overt cameras that can be used to 
support victims of anti-social behaviour.

 The police officers that are based within the team have assisted other Council 
departments with information and advice which has had a positive impact on joint 
working across departments and also supporting a more timely response for local 
communities.

 Due to daily discussions that take place within the team, support and advice can 
offered when dealing with individual cases and where necessary, cases are worked on 
jointly to ensure the most appropriate support for victims is given and proportionate 
action is taken against any identified perpetrators.

As this local partnership develops, further updates will be provided.

1.6   CCTV

     There are 24 cameras installed in the district, in Crowland, Holbeach and Spalding.  
Over the year there have been 198 recorded incidents and the system has supported 43 
arrests.  The CCTV system continues to monitor a variety of community safety incidents.  
Appendix B contains the details of these.  The top four types of incidents are; 

 Theft – Shoplifting and Retail
 Public Order / Disturbance / Retail
 Anti-Social Behaviour
 Missing Persons/ Concern for Welfare 

The cameras are professionally monitored and operators liaise with police, Shopwatch 
and Street Pastors locally using different radio systems.

Visits to the Control Room for members can be arranged if live demonstrations would be 
useful.  A parish council visit undertaken earlier this year was useful for those members to 
see the system being used and its capabilities.

1.7       Fly Swat Partnership
Fly Swat is a partnership that uses free manpower from HMP North Sea Camp to collect 
reported fly tipping in the district. Two crews of prisoners, nearing the end of their 
sentences, work Monday to Friday across South Holland and Boston as part of their 
rehabilitation and preparation for life in the community and a return to employment.

Page 9



South Holland District Council report fly tips into the partnership and the team is then 
deployed to collect the items reported.  Hot Spot locations can be routinely visited. 
The team from North Sea camp receive training and have the necessary equipment to 
remove the rubbish and transfer it for correct disposal, including recycling. Searches are 
also made for evidence that could lead to identifying the perpetrators.

1.8  Anti-Social Behaviour Enforcement in 2017/18

The Community Safety and Enforcement team have been the lead agency for fifty three 
cases of reported anti social behaviour since April 2017. Advice and guidance has also 
been given to local partners in the district to support residents. 

Some of the types of cases that the team have dealt with include domestic abuse, verbal 
abuse, intimidation and harassment and youth-related anti-social behaviour.
89 level one warnings were issued last year – this includes young people and adults.
Of those that received the level one warnings, only 14 went on to reoffend and therefore 
received level two Unacceptable Behaviour Warnings.  
For those individuals who continued to reoffend, level three Acceptable Behaviour 
Contracts are offered.  This provides the individual with an opportunity to change their 
behaviour prior to any legal enforcement.  4 individuals were signed up in 2017/18. 

The team issued 6 Community Protection Warnings and 2 Community Protection Notices.
The Operational Partnership Team are currently working on two cases with legal advice 
with a view to apply for Injunctions.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Do nothing.

2.2 Note the contents of the report.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 It is recommended that the contents of this report are noted and that members of the 
Performance Monitoring Panel have an understanding of partnership work undertaken in 
2017/18 and the plans for development in 2018/19.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The report will give an overview of the work taken place to meet the Council’s statutory 
duty under s17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998

4.2   It will increase understanding and awareness of the work taking place across the 
partnerships and the focus given to core multi-agency priorities.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS
   

5.1        Corporate Priorities

5.1.1   The work covered in this report supports two of the Council’s Corporate Priorities; 

 To develop safer, stronger, healthier and more independent communities while 
protecting the most vulnerable

 To have pride in South Holland by supporting the district and residents to develop 
and thrive

Page 10



5.2    Crime and Disorder 

5.2.1   The Council has a duty under section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 to take steps 
to reasonably prevent crime and disorder in the district.  

5.2.2   Changes to this legislation were brought in through the Police and Justice Act 2006, with 
subsequent regulations coming in to force in 2007.  The regulations set out the minimum 
requirements for partnership working to ensure effective practise and that all partnerships 
deliver to a common standard.  

5.2.3   This report evidences compliance with the Acts and the regulations.  

5.3 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.3.1 There are no direct implications from this report.  It should be noted that CCTV, surveillance 
techniques and investigations need to consider Article 8 of the Human Rights Act which 
covers right to privacy. 

5.4      Financial 

5.4.1 There are no direct implications from this report.  

5.5         Reputation 

5.5.1 It is important that the Council demonstrates its commitment to dealing with community 
safety issues and responding to local concerns.  

5.6 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.6.1 Multi-agency consultation was used to shape the changes to the Partnership and to 
determine the core priorities. 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 Services are provided for all those living, working or visiting the district.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

SLP Safer Lincolnshire Partnership
ELCSP East Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership
PCC Police and Crime Commissioner
ASB Anti-Social Behaviour
CCTV Closed Circuit Television
OPT Operational Partnership Team

Background papers:-  

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Emily Holmes, Communities Manager
Telephone Number: 01775 76 44 69
Email: eholmes@sholland.gov.uk

Page 11



Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

Appendices attached to this report:

Appendix A  Summary of Core Priority Groups
Appendix B  CCTV Annual Figures 

Page 12



Appendix A – Summary of 4 Core Priority Groups

Anti-Social Behaviour

The Crime and Disorder Act (1998) defines anti-social behaviour as ‘acting in a manner that 
caused or was likely to cause harassment, alarm or distress to one or more persons not of the 
same household as (the defendant).’
Examples of anti-social behaviour include:

 Nuisance, rowdy or inconsiderate neighbours
 Vandalism, graffiti and fly-posting
 Street drinking
 Environmental damage including littering, dumping of rubbish and abandonment of cars
 Prostitution related activity
 Begging and vagrancy
 Fireworks misuse
 Inconsiderate or inappropriate use of vehicles

Information from the Crime Survey for England and Wales (CSEW) would suggest that for the 
year ending March 2017, approximately 25% of people aged 16 or over in Lincolnshire 
experienced or witnessed ASB in their local area in the last twelve months. While this is below 
the national average of 30%, it is significantly above the estimated percentage of adults in 
Lincolnshire who were a victim of crime over the same time (either personally or to their 
household) of 15%. This would suggest, perhaps unsurprisingly, that ASB is the most prevalent 
community safety issue in Lincolnshire, although it is not as prevalent as it is elsewhere in 
England and Wales.

Focuses:
 Devise a process to identify ASB issues that are trending significantly upwards in 

specific areas of the county and develop a mechanism for developing and sharing good 
practise that results from tackling these issues.

 Explore the opportunities for tackling ASB in partnership with environment protection 
departments.

 Develop a partnership response to crime and disorder in the night time economy.
 Resolve ASBRAC attendance issues with mental health and social care agencies.
 Implement the new case management system.

Current routine multi-agency activity:
 Anti-Social Behaviour strategy 
 Partnership Standard Operating Procedures 
 Anti-Social Behaviour case management system – resourcing, oversight and 

development 
 Anti-Social Behaviour Risk Assessment Conference oversight, performance, evaluation 

and development

 

Page 13



Domestic Abuse

The cross-government definition of domestic violence and abuse is:
'Any incident or pattern of incidents of controlling (acts designed to make a person subordinate 
and/or dependent by isolating them from sources of support, exploiting their resources and 
capacities for personal gain, depriving them of the means needed for independence, resistance 
and escape and regulating their everyday behaviour), coercive (an act or a pattern of acts of 
assault, threats, humiliation and intimidation or other abuse that is used to harm, punish, or 
frighten their victim) , threatening behaviour, violence or abuse between those aged 16 or over 
who are, or have been, intimate partners or family members regardless of gender or sexuality. 
The abuse can encompass, but is not limited to psychological, physical, sexual, financial and 
emotional abuse.' This is not a legal definition.

Information from the Crime Survey for England and Wales (CSEW) would suggest that for the 
three year period between April 2013 and March 2016, an estimated 7.0% of the resident 
population of Lincolnshire aged 16-59 years experienced at least one domestic abuse incident. 
This is above the national average of 6.2%, and places Lincolnshire 13th out of 42 police force 
areas in terms of its domestic abuse prevalence. However, despite Lincolnshire having one of 
the highest domestic abuse prevalence rates in England and Wales, CSEW data suggests that 
it has one of the lowest domestic abuse police incident reporting rates. On average, there were 
14 police incidents reported for every 1,000 residents of Lincolnshire for the year ending March 
2016. This is much lower than the national average of 18 incidents per 1,000 people and places 
Lincolnshire 34th out of 42 police force areas. This information would suggest that it continues to 
be appropriate in Lincolnshire for the partnership to seek to increase the amount of domestic 
abuse reported to all agencies.

Focuses:
 Develop a strategy to tackle cultural perceptions about the acceptability of abusive 

behaviours within relationships.
 Review the process and resources for supporting the child witnesses of domestic abuse 

in both the immediate aftermath of abuse and with the long term impact of witnessing 
abuse as a child.

 Develop a plan to encourage victims of domestic abuse to report their abuse with 
consideration to how this would impact on demand.

 Map the availability and coverage of perpetrator schemes in the county in order to 
identify gaps in provision.

Current routine multi-agency activity:
 Domestic Abuse strategy and charter 
 Domestic Homicide Review coordination 
 Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conferences oversight, performance, evaluation and 

development 
 Domestic Abuse  victim support services – funding, oversight, promotion to agencies 

and community 

Page 14



Reducing Offending

Reducing offending in Lincolnshire is fundamental to our local communities and generates 
significant benefits because: 

 Appropriate diversion away from the criminal justice system is recognised as a viable 
option in creating safer communities and fewer victims.

 Effectively tackling offending reduces pressures on the resources of all of the key 
agencies working within the Safer Lincolnshire Partnership and wider health services.

 Improving the life chances of individuals must be our aspiration, but in doing so where 
offending impacts upon children and families, we create improved outcomes for children 
and start to break the inter-generational cycle of offending.

Around half of all crime is committed by people who have already been through the Criminal 
Justice System. The national cost of re-offending is estimated to be between £9.5 and £13 
billion per year across the UK.
Lincolnshire is a safe county and crime rates are significantly below the national average of 70.0 
crimes per 1,000 population, and currently stand at just 49.2 crimes per 1,000 population. 
Meanwhile binary reoffending rates (which measure whether or not an offender committed 
another offence within 12 months) are also below national and regional averages. The overall 
reoffending rate for Lincolnshire for the 2014 cohort was 24.8%, compared to 25.1% in the East 
Midlands and 25.6% nationally.  
Nevertheless, in Lincolnshire, as recognised nationally, a disproportionately high amount of 
crime is committed by a small number of prolific offenders. In a twelve month snapshot of 
reoffending in Lincolnshire, the top 2% most prolific offenders (approximately 130 people) were 
found to have committed 13% of all crime. It has long been recognised that the needs of these 
offenders are often entrenched and complex, however, what has been less well understood until 
recently has been the diversity and range of offending behaviours that many of the most prolific 
offenders exhibit. 

Focuses:
 Assess the feasibility of collaboration between ARC, SIB (ACTion team), the Blue Light 

Project for treatment resistant drinkers and other multi-agency schemes for offenders 
and those with complex needs.

 Conduct a review of the ARC scheme to assess the extent to which it is delivering its 
aspired outcomes.

 Support, monitor and evaluate the impact of the Departure Lounge on reoffending 
outcomes for those released from HMP Lincoln.

 Monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of Community Resolutions and Joint Diversionary 
Panels for young people.

Current routine multi-agency activity:
 Reducing Offending Strategy 
 Assisting Rehabilitation through Collaboration (ARC) oversight, performance, evaluation 

and development 

Page 15



Serious and Organised Crime

Serious and Organised Crime is the term used to encapsulate a broad range of criminal activity. 
The Safer Lincolnshire Partnership has identified the 2 most important areas of serious and 
organised crime requiring partnership action in Lincolnshire as Modern Day Slavery and 
Fraud.

Modern Day Slavery
Modern Slavery is the term used within the UK and is defined within the Modern Slavery Act 
2015. The Act categorises offences of slavery, servitude and forced or compulsory labour and 
human trafficking. Modern Slavery captures a whole range of types of exploitation, many of 
which occur together. These include but are not limited to: sexual exploitation, domestic 
servitude, forced labour, criminal exploitation and facilitating the travel of a person with the 
intention of exploiting them soon after. Children (those aged under 18) are considered victims of 
trafficking, whether or not they have been coerced, deceived or paid to secure their compliance. 
They need only have been recruited, transported, received or harboured for the purpose of 
exploitation. Although human trafficking often involves an international cross-border element, it 
is also possible to be a victim of modern slavery within your own country.
Modern Day Slavery has been identified in Lincolnshire through high profile police operations, 
such as Operation Pottery. A '4Ps' (prepare, prevent, protect and pursue) approach is taken to 
tackling Modern Day Slavery. Of the '4Ps' it is the 'prevent' and 'protect' elements that would 
most benefit from multi-agency involvement.

Fraud
Fraud is when trickery is used to gain a dishonest advantage, which is often financial, over 
another person. There are many different types of fraud that can be committed against 
individuals and businesses. There were 3.8 million frauds and 2 million cyber-crimes last year 
(based on survey results from the Office for National Statistics). The Annual Fraud Indicator 
2016 estimates the cost of fraud to the UK is £193bn a year. 70% of fraud is cyber enabled 
(Action Fraud). 
Crime Survey for England and Wales figures suggest that in the year ending June 2017, 6.0% 
of the adult population of England and Wales had been a victim of fraud within the last year, 
while 2.7% had been the victim of a computer misuse offence (in the form of a virus or 
unauthorised access to personal information including hacking). If these national prevalence 
figures were matched in Lincolnshire, it would mean that there were approximately 37,000 
victims of fraud and 16,500 victims of computer misuse in the last twelve months

SLP's Serious and Organised Crime Priorities (for both Fraud and Modern Day Slavery)
 Improve information flow
 Improve intelligence reporting flow
 Devise a reporting mechanism
 Raise awareness of these issues with the community
 Raise awareness of these issues with front line staff

Current routine multi-agency activity:
 Ensure annual completion of the partnership Serious and Organised Crime local profile

Page 16



Incidents Summary Analysis by Zone 

Printed at:17/04/2018  12:05:09 Page 1 of 7 

01/04/2018  
00:00:00 

to 01/04/2017  
00:00:00 

Page 17



Incidents Summary Analysis by Zone 

01/04/2018  
00:00:00 

to 01/04/2017  
00:00:00 

Category Summary 

Zone: SHDC Zone 

No. of Incidents Category Name Sub Category Name 
Abduction  1 
Alarm Activation  3 
Anti-Social Behaviour  23 
Burglary  8 
Criminal Damage  10 
Domestic Disturbance  2 
Drink Offence - Other  8 
Drugs*  2 
Fire  3 
Littering / Dog Fouling  1 
Misc  8 
Missing Person / Concern for  
Welfare 

 19 

Public Order / Disturbance  29 Assault 
RIPA  2 
Robbery  1 
Sexual  1 
Suspicious Activity  9 
Theft - of Cycle  1 
Theft - Other  2 
Theft - Shoplifting / Retail  33 
Traffic - Collision  4 
Traffic - Drink Driving  5 
Traffic - Other  8 
Traffic - SOCAP (No Insurance)  3 
Wanted Person  4 
Weapons*  8 

Total No. of Incidents in Zone SHDC Zone:   198 

Total No. of Incidents :   198 

Page 2 of 7 17/04/2018 12:05:09 

Page 18



Incidents Summary Analysis by Zone 

01/04/2018  
00:00:00 

to 01/04/2017  
00:00:00 

Page 3 of 7 17/04/2018 12:05:09 

Page 19



Incidents Summary Analysis by Zone 

01/04/2018  
00:00:00 

to 01/04/2017  
00:00:00 Call Source Summary 

Zone: SHDC Zone 

No. of Incidents Call Source 
 1 Member of Public Via Telephone 

 26 Operator Generated 
 2 PCSO 
 5 Police 

 13 Police - Phone 
 111 Police - Radio 

 4 Pubwatch 
 2 Security / other 

 34 Shopwatch 

Total No. of Incidents in Zone SHDC Zone:   198 

Total No. of Incidents :   198 

Page 4 of 7 17/04/2018 12:05:09 

Page 20



Incidents Summary Analysis by Zone 

01/04/2018  
00:00:00 

to 01/04/2017  
00:00:00 

Page 5 of 7 17/04/2018 12:05:09 

Page 21



Incidents Summary Analysis by Zone 

01/04/2018  
00:00:00 

to 01/04/2017  
00:00:00 Camera Summary 

Zone: SHDC Zone 

No. of Incidents Camera Name Camera Location 
 26 SHDC 201 Bridge Street 
 16 SHDC 202 Broad Street 
 34 SHDC 203 Market Place 
 61 SHDC 204 Hall Place 
 48 SHDC 205 Sheep Market 
 35 SHDC 206 Red Lion Street 
 46 SHDC 207 New Road 
 25 SHDC 208 Herring Lane 
 24 SHDC 209 Swan Street 
 33 SHDC 210 Winfrey Avenue 
 25 SHDC 211 Westlode Street 
 35 SHDC 212 Winsover Road 
 13 SHDC 214 The Crescent 
 14 SHDC 215 Vine Street 

 6 SHDC 217 Trinity Bridge Crowland 
 7 SHDC 218 South Street Crowland 
 8 SHDC 219 West Street Crowland 

 20 SHDC 220 High Street Holbeach 
 19 SHDC 221 High Street Holbeach 
 18 SHDC 222 Station Road Holbeach 
 17 SHDC 223 High Street Holbeach 

 2 SHDC 226 Castle Sports Complex 
 3 SHDC 227 Castle Sports Complex 
 2 SHDC 228 Castle Sports Complex 

Total No. of Incidents in Zone SHDC Zone:   198 

Total No. of Incidents :   198 

Page 6 of 7 17/04/2018 12:05:09 

Page 22



Incidents Summary Analysis by Zone 

01/04/2018  
00:00:00 

to 01/04/2017  
00:00:00 

Page 7 of 7 17/04/2018 12:05:09 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Rob Walker, Executive Director Place

To: Performance Monitoring Panel – 2 May 2018

(Author: Emily Holmes Communities Manager)

Subject: Swimming Pool and Leisure Facilities Contract Task Group – update on 
progress of recommendations

Purpose:     To provide Members with an update on the recommendations

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the content of the report be noted

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 In November 2016, the recommendations from the Final Report of the Swimming Pool 
and Leisure Facilities Contract Task Group were approved by the Cabinet.  On 16 May 
2017 and on 7 November 2017, progress updates on the six recommendations were 
given to the Performance Monitoring Panel.

1.2   Progress updates were given on;

  the implementation of weekly monitoring inspections taking place across the site to  
focus on cleanliness and maintenance

  the production of written guidance for site inspections
  default notice templates available
  the development of a contract manual to assist with clear guidance for contract 

monitoring
  detail of 5 Improvement Required Notices issued, written response from the 

contractor to address the areas of concern and subsequent re-inspection
  detail of 3 Default Notices issued in Summer 2017.
  a number of improvements implemented by the contractor including; the 

appointment of a dedicated cleaner for peak times at the pool; additional support to 
implement remedial maintenance work; completion of changing room floor 
replacements; introduction of new cleaning chemicals across the facilities; staff 
training, staff restructure to cover peak time and to oversee daily operations at the 
site.

1.3    Monthly contract meetings continue to take place which review significant areas across 
the contract: including; health and safety, customer feedback, quality management, 
programme delivery and development, staffing, training, safeguarding, performance and 
corrective action.   This is a further opportunity for additional site checks.

1.4  The site visits continue to take place weekly to maintain the improved standards.  Issues        
and resolution details with dates are tracked to monitor contract compliance and service 
standards. 

Page 25

Agenda Item 4



1.5   Customer feedback continues to be important to measure the quality of service.  Between 
November – March there were 55 comments received, 18 positive, 36 negative and one   
programming suggestion.  The customer feedback log is monitored, this includes details of 
follow up action taken and how the customer concern has been addressed.  Positive 
feedback have included improved cleanliness and positive feedback about the staff.  
Negative comments include some maintenance issues, some dissatisfaction with staff, the 
closure of the learner pool. 

1.6 Visitor figures are monitored. At the Castle Pool during May, June and July there was an 
increase of over 5,000 visits in comparison to same months in 2016.   However, this trend 
did not carry on throughout the year.  There were 45,888 casual swims in 2017-18 which is 
approximately 5,000 casual swim visits fewer than in 2016-17.  This is an area of concern 
and therefore a focus for 2018/19.  Swim School numbers have increased from last year to 
24,840 visits.  Swim and Sauna numbers have increased by 3,348 to 6,849 visits.  Gym 
attendances, Spin Class attendance and numbers of clients on the GP Referral programme 
have all increased.  Overall, there were 305,086 visits to the Castle Complex and Pool in 
2017/18. This is a 2.4% reduction in attendance from 2016/17.

1.7 Since the last update in November, there have been two maintenance issues that have 
caused disruption to usual service.  The air handling unit affecting the temperature in the 
Bowls areas and the learner pool heat exchange. For the heating in the bowls area; whilst 
repairs were taking place, alternative heating for these areas were used.  Unfortunately, the 
original repair work was not completed to the required standard and as a result the 
subsequent failures occurred.  1Life has taken action against the initial contractor; to 
recover costs and ensure that the sub-contractor will not work in any site managed by them 
in the future.  To avoid any future issues with the heating system, there will be a full boiler 
replacement in 2018.

At pool side, a new Heat Exchange unit, 2 x valves and new pipework were required. These 
parts were end of life and the heat exchange unit bespoke and as such, the estimated time 
for repair was given of 4 weeks.  This timescale was delayed by the manufacturer.  Where 
possible learner pool sessions were transferred into the shallow end of the main pool for 
continuity of lessons; although on some occasions this was not possible due to a clash of 
programming.

Maintenance and repairs will remain a focus when performance monitoring the contract and 
service provided.  The issues have been escalated to the Head of Property and the new 
Managing Director.

 
 The focus will remain on performance monitoring of the contract and service provided.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Do nothing.

2.2 Note the contents of the report.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 It is recommended that the contents of this report are noted and that members of the 
Performance Monitoring Panel have assurance that the management of the leisure 
contract has been strengthened.  This is having an impact on service standards, 
particularly cleanliness.

Page 26



4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The measures put in place following the Task Group will; 

 Lead to an increase in customer satisfaction, a decrease in complaints and concerns 
raised and an improvement in service standards.

 Improve evidencing and performance management of the contract with effective 
reporting.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1        Contracts

5.1.1  Contract Management procedures have been clarified and improved working practices 
implemented.  Sanctions on the contract have been and will continue to be used robustly 
where necessary.

5.1.2 The Contract Management Manual recommended through the audit process has been 
developed.

5.1.3 Information from the task group recommendations has informed the development of the 
new contract specification.

5.2       Corporate Priorities

5.2.1 The provision of a Leisure offer contributes to the Council’s Corporate priorities of

- To develop safer, stronger, healthier and more independent communities while 
protecting the most vulnerable

- To have pride in South Holland by supporting the district and residents to develop and 
thrive

- To encourage the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth.

The improved contract monitoring arrangements in place supports the provision of the 
right services, at the right time and in the right way.

5.3 Crime and Disorder 

5.3.1 There are no implications from this report.

5.4 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.4.1 There are no implications from this report.

5.5 Financial 

5.5.1 Three Default Notices were issued in 2017/18 with a financial penalty of £100 each.

5.6      Health & Wellbeing

5.6.1 There are no implications from this report.

Page 27



5.7        Reputation 

5.7.1 The service delivered through the Leisure Contract will continue to be robustly monitored, 
to resolve issues quickly, make necessary improvements and address contract 
compliance issues with appropriate sanctions.  This is important for both the reputation of 
the Council and the contractor and there is commitment from both organisations to 
maintain the improvements made to date and continue to make progress.

5.8       Risk Management 

5.8.1 The centres are well used and at peak times, particularly at the pool, there is heavy traffic 
through the facility and the changing areas.  These peak times are when customer 
concerns about cleanliness are likely to be raised. To mitigate against this and maintain the 
appropriate standards, the additional cleaning resources are deployed during these times.

5.8.2 Health and Safety is an area that is monitored through the monthly contract meetings and 
updated in between meetings when necessary.    The contractor’s statutory compliance 
report which documents important checks including; boiler servicing, emergency lighting, air 
handling, fire alarms, disabled access equipment, water quality and asbestos have been 
reviewed in the monthly contract meeting and shared with the Council’s Health and Safety 
Advisor.  On 27th February 2018, a Health and Safety inspection was undertaken by the 
Council’s Health and Safety Manager.  The overall assessment was good.

5.9 Staffing

5.9.1 Additional resources and officer time have been allocated to undertake the weekly 
unannounced site inspections. A rota and schedule of inspections in place.

5.9.2 Staffing levels for the contractor at the pool were reviewed as part of the improvement 
work and more resources have been allocated to the swimming pool including an 
additional Duty Manager post and dedicated cleaner post.

5.9.3 Default notices were served when there was failure to maintain adequate staffing levels 
and this has been addressed.

5.10 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.10.1 Stakeholder and user feedback is important to help monitor the quality of provision, the 
comments log is reviewed on a fortnightly basis.

5.10.2 The meet the manager sessions provide useful feedback from users which can be 
addressed.  

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 Services are provided for all those living, working or visiting the district.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None.

Background papers:- Final Report of the Swimming Pool and Leisure Facilities Contract 
Task Group

Minutes of the Performance Monitoring Panel 

Page 28



Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Emily Holmes, Communities Manager
Telephone Number: 01775 76 44 69
Email: eholmes@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Leisure Centre Task Group Update

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Castle Leisure Centre Task Group Update – April 2018 APPENDIX A

Recommendations Action to date

a. That a full time cleaner is considered by
1Life as part of their annual budget
allocations. It is evident that additional
hours are required for the proactive
cleaning of the swimming pool facility, in
particular the changing room areas, in
order to adhere to the requirements of
the contract;

All staff have cleaning duties in their job 
description.

Additional dedicated cleaning resource was 
requested by 1Life Contract Manager.  A 
new team member commenced duties on 21 
February 2017.  This addition was well 
received by customers.

New cleaning chemicals have also been 
sourced, staff have been trained and these 
chemicals are being used.

b. That contract management of the site
improves with a formally recorded daily
and weekly monitoring regime and that
should standards fall short of the
requirements within the contract, the
contract warning system is to be followed
through and be robustly pursued by the
contract manager;

A daily and weekly monitoring regime is in 
place on site.

There is a Daily and weekly cleaning 
schedule which must be completed. Failure 
to sign these off could result in disciplinary 
action.

The 1Life Contract Manager has developed 
a more detailed list for internal inspections 
that duty managers are to complete.

These are viewed at contract monitoring 
meetings.

Additional resource has been committed 
internally, with council officers making 
additional weekly inspection visits to monitor 
the service delivered.  These are detailed 
with a strong focus on cleanliness and 
maintenance.

In Q1
5 Improvement Required Notices were 
issued.  Remedial action was recorded and 
determined to be effective.

In Q2 
3 Default Notices were issued.

If standards fall short, further Improvement 
Required Notices or Default notices will be 
served.  Monitoring of these are included in 
the Strategic Board meetings with 1Life 
Managing Director.

However, overall there have been significant 
improvements to cleansing.

Further improvements to timeliness of 
general maintenance is required.  This 
Page 31



remains a focus. 

c. That staff within the facilities record and
notify management of any repairs
required on a daily basis and that these
are dealt with in a timely manner. In
addition, all outstanding repairs and
maintenance should be undertaken
promptly to improve standards at the
leisure facilities;

There is an Inspection sheet for logging all 
maintenance issues or cleanliness issues.

A new loose sheet log was created for main 
hirers or regular clubs at the facility to 
document any concerns.  

These are reviewed at the monthly contract 
meetings against the contract.

Minor maintenance issues are recorded on 
the weekly inspection visit sheet and 
reviewed for progress.

In addition, the contractor’s statutory 
compliance report which documents 
important maintenance and service checks 
has been reviewed.

Some maintenance in Q3 and Q4 has been 
required for larger pieces of plant equipment.  
Due to the nature of these parts, they have 
been made bespoke; this has impacted 
usual service although sites have remained 
open and accessible.

d. That the blue overshoe policy is reviewed
immediately and a new, more effective
policy is put in place within three months;

This has been reviewed and seriously 
considered.  A suitable alternative is not 
available at this time. Blue overshoes are 
industry standard.
Consideration was also given to other 
physical measures, such as a turnstile to 
ensure that each person entering the 
changing room area puts on the overshoes 
but this has been discounted due to 
emergency access in and out.

Additional signage has been installed and 
customers are being requested to wear the 
blue overshoes – this has been positively 
recognised by pool users.

Regular inspections show that blue shoes 
are available to visitors and that staff 
continue to advise that these need to be 
worn.  The additional signage is clear and 
visible.

An improvement in use of blue overshoes 
has supported the improvement in 
cleanliness standards.

e. That these recommendations are
allocated to an identified officer to ensure
they are actioned and that an update is
received by the Performance Monitoring
Panel on actions against these at 7
February 2017 meeting; and

The Communities Manager has responsibility 
for all of these actions.

Page 32



f. That the Performance Monitoring Panel is
involved in the consultation stage of any
future option appraisals in respect to
Leisure Facilities provision in South
Holland.

To create a ‘holding’ position whilst the 
longer term strategy for leisure is determined 
a new short term leisure management 
contract is to be procured. This contract will 
include a refreshed and refocused 
specification that will take into account a 
number of the recommendations from the 
2016/17 leisure task group to ensure service 
improvements. 
The contract will commence 1st March 2019 
with a 5 year term (plus 2 extension years). 

 At an all Member briefing on 7th 
March 2018, details of this current 
procurement process were shared 
and the future strategic delivery 
model. An assessment of need has 
already commenced, with further 
work streams identifying any:

 Links to wider outcomes can be 
created including health, co-location, 
regeneration, social inclusion, older 
and growing populations. 

 Capital and revenue parameters.
 Local consultation and behaviour 

change. 
Members will be engaged along this journey. 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health and/or Executive Director - Place
Rob Walker, Director of Place
Councillor Christine Lawton, Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health

To: Performance Monitoring Panel Wednesday, 2 May 2018 

(Author: Martin Cregg Housing Landlord Services Manager)

Subject Review of Housing Allocations Policy

Purpose: To provide an update on the current review of the Housing Allocations Policy

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the contents of this report are noted.

2) That the review of the Housing Allocations Policy be completed by the end of September 
2018

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 This report is to provide an update to Members in respect of the current position and the 
planned approach to a considered review of the Housing Allocations Policy. 

1.2 This a review is in accordance with the Localism Act 2011 (sub-section 145-147), 
amending the Housing Act 1996 (Part VI), by which local housing authorities have the 
power to make their own decisions on who should or should not qualify to be accepted onto 
their housing register and be prioritised for the allocation of social housing, subject to 
ongoing statutory guidance.

1.3  A Review was originally planned to take place in 2016, three years after the introduction of 
the current Policy. This has been rescheduled because a number of factors that are 
considered to have a direct impact and need consideration. These can be summarised as 
follows: 

1.3.1. The impact of the Place Review that was initiated in the Summer of 2016 and implemented 
throughout 2017 with transition works into 2018. This process was management and 
resource intensive, changing the structure of the department and the way that the housing 
services are delivered in the District. This included bringing the functions of allocations and 
lettings into a dedicated Available Homes team. There has been a need to establish ensure 
a period of relative stability to establish this team, it’s work processes and systems prior to 
bringing in significant change to the Allocations Policy.

1.3.2. The awareness throughout 2017 of the impending introduction of the Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017 that came into effect in April 2018. The Act has significantly increased 
the duty upon local authorities and potentially the burden upon housing allocation towards 
homeless applicants. This will shape the allocation of housing, the problem is determining 
the extent of the change because the demand led nature of homelessness provision. We 

Page 35

Agenda Item 5



believe it will prudent to give the Council a six month period to understand the initial local 
impact of the legislative change in South Holland.   

1.3.3 The impact upon staffing resources and the capacity to manage any changes to the 
Allocations Policy. There is also the appreciation of the need to introduce an IT based 
alternative because if, as a consequence of the review and subsequent change in policy, 
there is a significant increase in the number of eligible applicants joining the Housing 
Register this will impact upon capacity and resources. Currently the process is interview, 
paper application and staff input based, this will need to change to an online process in 
which people self-manage their applications.

1.3.4 A review of the Housing Allocations Policy will need to explore a potential contribution 
towards in the joint South Holland/Breckland “Open for Business” initiative and the scope to 
incorporate local lettings plans for future new developments.

1.4     Whilst all of these factors have affected the original timescale for the review of the policy, 
there is an appreciation of Members concerns and it is proposed to bring forward the date 
of the completion of the Review to the end of September 2018 predominantly to allow for 
the impact of the Homelessness Reduction Act to be assessed over the six month period 
since it’s introduction and to explore the IT options available prior to implementing any 
changes that the Review determines.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To take on board Members concerns and bring forward the proposed date to complete the 
Review of the Housing Allocations Policy by the end of September 2018

2.2 Do nothing and retain the previously proposed Review completion date of April 2019

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The option of bringing forward the completion date will enable Members concerns to be 
addressed whilst enabling the impact of the first six months of the Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017 to be considered alongside the review of policy  

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The considered review of policy that takes into account the wider impact of changes and 
ensures the operational delivery of the changes are fully appreciated and built in  

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation 
Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under 
one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

Page 36



5.1 Constitutional & Legal

5.1.1 Localism Act 2011 (ss 145-147), amending the Housing Act 1996 (Part V1)

5.2 Staffing

5.2.1 Consideration upon operational impacts and resources will be considered within the 
Review

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All

7.0 ACRONYMS

7.1 None

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Martin Cregg Housing Landlord Services Manager
Telephone Number
Email: mcregg@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: N 

Exempt Decision: N 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Director, Place

To: Performance Monitoring Panel – 2 May 2018

Author: Phil Stacey Housing Options Manager

Subject: Re-Letting of Void Properties Task Group

Purpose: Present an update on the current situation

Recommendation(s): 

That the Performance Monitoring Panel note the progress made on addressing the re-letting of 
SHDC stock (Void Properties)

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 On 25th July 2017, the Re-Letting of Void Properties Task Group Final Report was 
presented to Cabinet and a series of recommendations were agreed. It was agreed that he 
recommendations of the Task Group would be incorporated within the Place Review.

1.2 Following on from this report to Cabinet there was a significant review of Communities, 
Environmental Services, and Housing and Operational Assets services. The process 
involved a diagnostic and functional review of how the services are currently operating to 
identify improved ways of working. The operational delivery of Void Properties is delivered 
through this service.

1.3 Following on from this review, changes to the operational model to address Voids 
Properties have been identified. These include as follows:

 A new Available Homes Team has been set up – The Task Group recommended: “That the 
voids process is amalgamated into one voids team and the process along with a number of 
actions within this are refined and/or removed.“

Following the review, the new team has been in place since September 2017. Further 
recommendations from the Task Group under this heading such as key safes have been 
considered.

Following consultation; we received advice from the Police about the high risks of 
burglaries in the District if key safes were regularly and systematically deployed in void 
properties. This was taken on board and, other than under exceptional circumstances, the 
bulk use of key safes to control voids keys has been discounted. 

Instead, a new process has been introduced to provide a range of suited locks to help 
turnaround times, key control and client and customer access. Also; the implementation on 
installing these suited locks is now undertaken immediately upon the property becoming 
empty and is communicated to the contractors to enable works to start on site.

Page 39

Agenda Item 6



 Reviews of Tenancy Agreement and Recharges– The Task Group recommended: “That the 
management of tenancies is overhauled to ensure property standards are maintained 
and/or recharges for repairs are appropriately received.”

Both the Tenancy Agreement and Recharge policies are under review.

Housing go through, in detail, all of the current Tenancy Agreement and Recharge policies 
with all new tenants both prior to, and at, the sign up of their tenancy. This is then followed 
up, at a later date, by a contact with the tenant at the tenancy after they have moved in.

 Letting of Properties– The Task Group recommended: “That the marketing of properties is 
undertaken, with new methods actively sought.”

Since September 2017 194 properties have been successfully let to customers. Of these 
194, 0 (zero) have been ended by either the customer or SHDC.

There are very small numbers of property types that are sometimes more difficult to let.

These, in the main, include sheltered accommodation bedsits and an occasional larger type 
family house in very rural locations where public transport and infrastructure is hard to 
access. All these properties already are actively marketed with customers as they approach 
the authority for rehousing and this process has benefited from the establishment of the 
aforementioned Available Homes team.

Further work is ongoing around a disposal strategy and re-designation of stock throughout 
the whole of SHDC’s housing portfolio.

Work continues to identify and integrate current IT systems used by SHDC to allocate void 
properties. This also includes looking into whether there are any more appropriate IT 
systems to help with the allocations of property.

Other technologies such as the Council’s website and Social Media platforms like Facebook 
and Twitter are under consideration but the management and publication of such sensitive 
data is a particular concern and has yet to be addressed. 

 Contracts– The Task Group recommended: “That the current contracts are reviewed, that 
directly impact the voids timeline, potentially seeking to bring back in-house some services.”

Services such as Energy Performance Certificates have already been brought in house. 
Other service contacts are being reviewed and future reports to Performance Monitoring 
Panel and Policy Development Panel will be forthcoming

 Allocations Policy– The Task Group recommended: “That the current allocations policy is 
reviewed for effectiveness alongside a strategic property review for hard to let properties 
within the housing stock,”  and “That the Housing Allocations policy is reviewed to ensure 
that waiting lists are appropriate for the housing need of South Holland”

An update on progress around these issues are to be presented to Performance Monitoring 
Panel and Policy Development Panel on the 2nd May and 1st May 2018 respectively

 Void processes – The Task Group recommended: “That the voids process provides high 
quality properties within a consistent turn around that meets the needs of our tenants”

An update on progress around these issues are to be presented to Performance Monitoring 
Panel on the 31st July 2018

Page 40



2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Option 1: That the Panel considers the information and provides feedback.

2.2 Option 2:- Do nothing

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 It is recommended that the contents of this report are noted and that members of the
Performance Monitoring Panel have an up to date understanding of the changes to the
approach in dealing with re-letting of Void Properties

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To return the maximum numbers of void properties back into to use per annum.

4.2 To ensure that the right properties are available, for the right person at the right time.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 There is a strong link between work around voids and our corporate priorities,
notably ‘to have pride in South Holland by supporting the district and residents to develop
And thrive. 

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1   There is often a link between empty dwellings and anti-social behaviour. Addressing the
  issue of void properties should make a contribution to wider efforts to address anti
  social behaviour.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1   It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 The additional resource committed to the new Available Homes Team has a financial

Page 41



Implication for the authority; as does any loss of income because of rent loss during void 
times and increasing cost associated with improving letting standards. 

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 There is a positive link between increasing the supply of housing, along with investing into
the condition of housing in the district and the broader Health and Wellbeing
agenda.

5.9 Risk Management 

5.9.1 There are risks to the authority associated with certain courses of action designed to bring
Void Properties back into use. For example, failing to bring void properties back into use 
has a financial risk in lost rent, failing to properly allocate properties place at risk future 
partnership opportunities with Register Providers (Housing Associations).
.

5.10 Safeguarding

5.10.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.11 Staffing

5.11.1 An Affordable Homes Team Leader and two additional Allocations/Lettings Officers had 
been added to the compliment of the team following the review. These officers’ roles are 
dedicated to bringing void properties back into use.

5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.12.1 There are no known implications for stakeholders, but void properties work will require the 
Council to adopt a partnership approach. There are no known implications in terms of
timescales and consultation.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All Wards

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None

Background papers: - Re-Letting of Void Properties Task Group Final Report

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Phil Stacey. Housing Options Manager
Telephone Number: 01775 764605
Email: philstacey@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: None

Page 42

mailto:philstacey@sholland.gov.uk


- 1 -

Minutes of a meeting of the JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL AND 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, 
Priory Road, Spalding, on Thursday, 25 January 2018 at 6.30 pm.

PRESENT
 

B Alcock
G R Aley
J R Astill
F Biggadike
M D Booth

C J T H Brewis
G K Dark
L J Eldridge
A M Newton
J L Reynolds

M D Seymour
E J Sneath
A R Woolf
Whitbourn
P E Coupland

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors H Drury, 
A Harrison, J L King and J Tyrrell 

In Attendance: Executive Director Commercialisation, Head of Finance, Democratic 
Services Manager, Democratic Services Officer

Action By
25. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN 

Cllr Woolf was elected Chairman 

26. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies were received from Councillor Harrison, Councillor 
King, Councillor Drury and Councillor Tyrell 

27. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

CPBS and Welland Homes 

28. DRAFT BUDGET, MEDIUM TERM PLAN AND CAPITAL 
STRATEGY (SCRUTINY) 

Consultation feedback - electric car charging points;

Query - Council tax – below £5 envelope or 3% whichever the 
greater.

Members were given a presentation from Christine Marshall 
outlining the budget setting, including the; General Fund, 
HRA and Capital Programme.

(Cllr McLean entered the chamber at 18:42)

Next Steps

Page 43

Agenda Item 7a)



- 2 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 25 January 2018

Public consultation ending 
Cabinet 13th February 

Members were invited to discuss and question the content of 
the presentation they had received:

General fund

It was questioned that if the costs relating to vehicles were taken 
out of the reserve then that fund could not be used for anything 
else. Officers responded that the reserve could be used for any 
purpose at the desire of the council. Members stated that the 
issue had been raised due to historical difficulties in fund 
flexibility, with reserves being ring-fenced strictly.

Members stated that from having read the figures, there was a 
clear habit of failure with the budget and being able spend the 
budgeted amount. Therefore members wanted assurances from 
officers that the budget was realistic. Officers suggested that the 
year’s budget was tighter, therefore it was suggested there was a 
low risk of underspend. It was stated that the recent partnership 
with DWP and Welland Homes successes were examples of how 
things were improving in this regard.

The increase in employee costs was mentioned and it was 
questioned if this was due to a rise in high skill employees or due 
to built-in inflation. Officers claimed that the comparable 2017-18 
staff costs figures were not as low as originally suggested due to 
the inclusion of savings values. This had been corrected in the 
2018-19 staff costs. The increased costs were due to various 
factors including inflation, increased pensions, and new service 
developments.

Members wanted to know why costs caused a deficit to emerge in 
19-20. It was suggested that increasing employee costs were 
what caused the forecast together with reducing government 
grant support. Officers suggested some resolutions to this, 
including raising fees and charges. She also suggested that the 
estimated deficit bottom line was actually not a bad position to be 
in, because it was not a deficit that was large enough to require 
large scale action to resolve.

Members expressed that the reliance upon NNDR New Homes 
Bonus should be reduced. Officers stated that a degree of 
reliance upon NNDR NHB was acceptable but that it was not a 
long term solution.

Page 44



- 3 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 25 January 2018

Members expressed concern over the status of Legal Services, 
wanting to know if officers were convinced they now had a 
formula which would deliver a better level of service. Officers 
suggested that although they had no control over Legal Services, 
levels of service were good and that they were cheaper than 
buying in.

Members questioned what plans the council had for using its 
share of business rates surplus from the pilot. Officers suggested 
that the authority should try to move to investing in more 
economic developments and that if the pool performed well it 
would develop a decent share. It was recommended that the 
authority wait until the pilot was completed and the known value 
of any surplus was put into reserve, then the decision would be 
made as to how to spend it.

Members mentioned that Crease Drove had been in the budget 
for several years and wanted answers as to whether the council 
could carry out its budget commitments.

Members wanted to know if the budget had made no allowances 
for inflation at all. Officers stated that because the budget was 
small it was not going to be increased alongside inflation. 
However larger budgets would include built-in inflation. Where 
they existed RPI or other indexes would be linked.

Members wanted to refer to pensions. Stating that it was a 
continual risk area due to no level of control. Officers stated it was 
a national issue and that differences in Lincolnshire existed due to 
historical decisions and that the authorities fund was mature – 
therefore, fairly predictable. However, there was no control to be 
exerted unless the government changed the relevant regulations.

Members raised the UK municipal bond agency. They claimed 
that although the authority had invested, they had never received 
a statement. Officers agreed to respond to Council over this 
issue.

Members wanted to know what the authority was doing to 
promote the open to business policy, and to promote 
partnerships. Officers suggested that the authority had good 
potential for income opportunities through the use of assets, but 
also that increases in planning fees would act as a good income 
opportunity.

Members asked if leisure contracts were due in 2019 and if they 

JC, RF, CM 

Page 45



- 4 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 25 January 2018

were post-this-budget. Officers stated it would be added as is 
when implemented but that the contracts had several issues to 
resolve. But that there were opportunities to invest to create more 
revenue streams here.

Members wanted to know if the upcoming catering contract for 
South Holland centre had been examined for value for money and 
if revenue opportunities were present here. They also wanted to 
know if investment could increase revenue. Officers suggested 
that while the leisure market was an interest, it was a competitive 
market and that it would require significant investment, suggesting 
that the current policy would continue for another 5 years before 
issues relating to leisure were addressed. Members expressed 
extreme dissatisfaction with the 5 year timescale, suggesting that 
this was too long to wait for something to be done about leisure in 
the district. Officers rebuffed that if the authority wanted to take 
significant steps into improving leisure by commissioning a large 
scale leisure project, the turnaround on such a project would be 
around the 5 year mark. Therefore it was suggested that 5 years 
was a realistic turnaround period and the authority was urged by 
both officers and members to consider such a project so that 
proceedings could begin in earnest.

Members wanted an explanation as to how the authority had 
gotten into the situation with SHC. It would be reported back to 
PMP.

Members recalled a transformation meeting which addressed 
commercialising assets. It was claimed that this issue had not 
since been raised and that asset commercialisation could have 
been underway. Officers suggested that some projects (i.e. 
crease drove) had made good progress, therefore asset 
commercialisation had begun in earnest. However officers did 
concede that they had not reached the targets that they had 
hoped to yet, but that projects were picking up speed.

Members reiterated that Councillors could have good insight and 
to bring issues straight to council would miss out on members’ 
good ideas for commercialisation. It was suggested that a joint 
panel should be organised. 

Members claimed that recommendations made by task groups on 
leisure had been accepted but nothing had ever happened. 

Members followed up on commercialisation of assets and wanted 
to mention that there should be an opportunity to look into the 
finer details of such possibilities. 

JC, RF, CM 

JC, RF, CM 

Page 46



- 5 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 25 January 2018

HRA

Members suggested that the authority needed to increase its 
resources to carry out the programme. They also wanted to know 
if the HRA could impact upon the general fund. It was answered 
in the negative, that HRA stood alone.

Capital Programme

Members wanted to mention Spalding special expenses. 
Increases had materialised in areas such as allotments. It was 
requested that an allocation be made in the budget for these 
expenses, or that they come from the contingency. Officers stated 
that this issue would be addressed in Cabinet.

Members wanted to be updated on Spalding Cemetery costs. 
Officers stated that they would get back to members in greater 
detail 

Members mentioned that the Spalding Town forum viewing the 
Spalding special expenses had seemed to end. Officers 
suggested that this was not intentional and that it would be 
addressed at the next forum in March.

Spalding Town Forum, it was noted, required a special meeting to 
be arranged so that the Spalding Special Expenses could be 
examined in fine detail.

Members asked how the contents of this meeting would move 
forward. Officers suggested that they would be fed into the report 
for cabinet. Members requested a summary of the meetings 
content to double check. Officers provided this summary.

Members mentioned that the authorities used to receive 
information over the uses and costs of leisure facilities but that the 
members seemed not to be involved in this anymore, but that the 
members had a right to that information. Officers answered that 
the members would receive a budget book and that the 
Councillors’ feedback could be noted and that information could 
be fed back to members. It was agreed that PMP should look at 
this. Especially if looking at leisure 

JC, RF, CM 

JC, DS 

JC, RF, CM 

29. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
URGENT 

None 

Page 47



- 6 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 25 January 2018

(The meeting ended at 8.22 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 48



- 18 -

Minutes of a meeting of the PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL held in the 
Meeting Room 1, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 6 February 
2018 at 6.30 pm.

PRESENT

B Alcock (Chairman)
M D Booth (Vice-Chairman)

J R Astill
T A Carter
G K Dark

P C Foyster
J D McLean
A M Newton

M D Seymour
A C Tennant
J Whitbourn

In Attendance:  The Portfolio Holder Place, the Portfolio Holder Communities and 
Facilities, the Executive Director Place, the South Holland Place Manager, the Head 
of Services, Revenues and Benefits (CPBS), the Operational Benefits Manager, 
Revenues and Benefits (CPBS), the Senior Business Intelligence Officer, the 
Business Intelligence Officer, the Environmental Services Manager, the Communities 
Manager, the Democratic Services Officer, Georgina Statham (Highways Liaison 
Manager at Lincolnshire County Council), and Andy Wharff (Highways Manager at 
Lincolnshire County Council).

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors G R Aley, 
C J T H Brewis and J L King.

Action By
33 PANEL MEMBERSHIP 

The Chairman advised of the recent death of Councillor R Clark, 
who had been a member of the Performance Monitoring Panel. 
Panel members requested that condolences be passed on to the 
family at the appropriate time.

Councillor R Grocock had recently been replaced on the panel by 
Councillor J Whitbourn. The Chairman welcomed Councillor 
Whitbourn to the Panel. 

CM 

34 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS. 

There were no declarations of interest.  

35 POT HOLES 

The Chairman welcomed to the meeting Georgina Statham, 
Highways Liaison Manager at Lincolnshire County Council, and 
Andy Wharff, Highways Manager at Lincolnshire County Council.  
They had been invited to answer questions following a Panel 
meeting on 4 July 2017 where concerns had been raised over the 
state of pot holes in roads within the area.

Page 49

Agenda Item 7b)



- 19 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 6 
February 2018

The officers provided an overview of the issue, and of the 
restructure to planned and reactive works that had been 
undertaken at the County Council the previous year.  The main 
points were as follows:

 Network management dealt with the day to day management 
of pot holes.  Andy was the manager for the area that included 
South Holland, he had eight  staff working for him and his area 
covered around a quarter of Lincolnshire.

 The main policy covering pot holes was the Asset 
Management Policy and Strategy, with the Highways 
Management Plan sitting underneath this.  This information 
could be viewed online.

 There had been an increased response time to faults on the 
network.

 All reported pot holes were inspected, those with higher traffic 
more frequently.

 The severity of the defect and the type of road dictated how 
and when potholes were dealt with.

 90,000 potholes had been filled in the previous year. There 
had been an increase in the current year – these were 
prioritised in line with the strategy and were now of a higher 
quality fill.

 There was currently a backlog of works, and work was being 
undertaken to address this.

 Already there was an increase in the number of pot holes 
reported in the current year to the previous one.  Much of this 
was due to the poor, wet weather this year.  There were 22 
teams across the area dealing with the filling of pot holes, but 
there were constraints due to budgets.

Members raised a number of issues as follows:

 Had the method of repairing potholes changed recently?
o Yes, it had.  The aim was now to undertake a one fix 

repair.

 There were complaints from the public regarding how some 
repairs are undertaken - why were all potholes not repaired 
this way?

o The policy since 2 January 2018 was to undertake a 
different method of repairing.  If a quick repair was 
needed, in the first instance the pot hole would be 
filled temporarily, with a return visit to provide a 
better fix. 95% of potholes should now be  repaired 
better.

Page 50



- 20 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 6 
February 2018

 What was the definition of a pot hole?
o Pot holes could of any size however, there was a 

depth criteria which dictated response times.  An 
accurate description when reporting helped to 
assess the situation more quickly, making sure that 
the more urgent ones were done first.

 More funding for roads was required from central government 
– had there been any costings undertaken to compare the 
amount of money taken back from government against repairs 
having to be done?

o There was always a need for more funding.  There 
was to be an increase in surface dressing to 
improve the longevity of roads for a longer period.  It 
was hoped that a further allocation of funds would 
be received, but more money was needed.

 The South Holland area had many B roads which carried a lot 
of traffic – these did not appear to be dealt with in the way 
described.

o This situation should not now be happening.  If the 
roads were not being repaired properly, the County 
Council had to be advised so this could be rectified 
if necessary.

 As well as potholes, the substrata of many of the B roads was 
giving in. 

o Advanced survey techniques were used to check 
what was going on underneath the road.  The 
programme for this work for the forthcoming year 
would soon be published on the Lincolnshire County 
Council website.

 Some very minor roads were almost disappearing. – what was 
happening with these?

o A and B roads were the first priority.  The network of 
unclassified roads would be looked at next year in 
order to address these problems.  The County 
Council had a duty to maintain these roads.

 Some roads were very dangerous, due to the large number of 
potholes – if a road was dangerous, why were there no 
warning signs?

o If these issues were reported, officers would go out 
and investigate.  Some  temporary signage could be 
introduced to improve in the warning of road users.

 Officer had stated that the aim was for work on A roads to be 

Page 51



- 21 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 6 
February 2018

done within 24 hours - some never got reported and some 
serious ones were still not fixed (a particularly bad pothole on 
the A17 near the Anglia Motel was mentioned)  Had there 
been any claims made with regard to damage to cars as a 
result of potholes?

o Yes, claims had increased in the current year, 
due to more pot holes as a result of the weather. 
A roads were the County Council’s priority.

 Did the policies for repair of potholes also refer to footpaths?
o Yes, they did.

 What were the response times within performance targets for 
repair of pot holes?

o Officers did not have the latest information for each 
size of category with them however, this would be 
provided to members outside of the meeting.

 How broad were priorities with regard to repair of pot holes?
o Hierarchy was dependent on usage/footfall.  If a 

particular issue was not reflected within this 
hierarchy, it could sometimes be looked at 
independently.  Sometimes, efficiencies could be 
made by addressing a number of issues within an 
area.

 Was there a way in which more than one street, all of which 
had repairs required, could be identified as a group for work to 
be undertaken at the same time?

o Fault reports on the pothole reporting portal on the 
County Council’s website was done on a road by 
road basis. It would be difficult to do grouping when 
reporting in this way.  However, when contractors 
planned their work, they would consider undertaking 
various work in close proximity as part of a 
programme.  Some information could be added to 
the portal to suggest grouping.

 Did contractors have a great deal of discretion?
o Contractors knew their areas well.  The initial 

notification of a repair would go first to the 
appropriate officer, an assessment would be made 
following a visit, with suggestions to the contractor 
and how this could be programmed.  

 Members asked how they could help the County Council to 
improve the state of the roads in the district?

o Members were advised to report any required 

CM 

Page 52



- 22 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 6 
February 2018

repairs, via the portal on the County Council website 
in the first instance, or through the service centre 
during office opening hours.  Bad practice should 
also be reported.

The Chairman thanked the officers for their attendance at the 
meeting.

(Georgina Statham and Andy Wharff left the meeting following 
discussion of this item)..  

36 MINUTES 

AGREED:

The minutes of the Performance Monitoring Panel meeting held 
on 7 November 2018 were signed by the Chairman as a correct 
record. 

37 QUESTIONS ASKED UNDER STANDING ORDER 6 

There were no questions asked under Standing Order 6. 

38 TRACKING OF RECOMMENDATIONS 

There were no responses of the Cabinet to consider. 

39 ITEMS REFERRED FROM THE POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL. 

There were no items referred from the Policy Development Panel. 

40 KEY DECISION PLAN 

Consideration was given to the Key Decision Plan issued on 29 
January 2018.

AGREED:

That the Key Decision Plan issued on 29 January 2018 be noted. 

41 QUARTER 3 2017-18 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Strategy and Governance which provided an update on Council 
performance for the period 1 October 2017 to 31 December 2017. 
Areas where performance had improved since the previous period 
were brought to members’ attention, as were areas where 

Page 53



- 23 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 6 
February 2018

performance was below expected levels or was considered to be 
worsening.

Quarter 3 saw performance remain steady in comparison to 
Quarter 2.  Performance was rated as moderate with 11 indicators 
being green (58%) which indicated good performance.  There 
were 3 (16%) amber indicators and 5 red indicators (26%), 
highlighting lower than expected performance.  There were 5 
indicators which were classified as data only, which meant that 
they were monitored without requiring a target, and 1 in which the 
data was currently unavailable.

In discussing the report the following key points emerged:

 Housing voids had been highlighted as an area for 
improvement, and members were unhappy at this 
performance.  It was clarified that this issue would be 
discussed in further depth at the next Panel meeting, where 
performance against the recommendations of the 
Performance of the Re-Letting of Voids Task Group was 
already due to be considered..

 At the last Panel meeting, members had requested whether a 
new indicator could be added to start monitoring rent collection 
for Welland Homes?  Officers advised that this was in the 
process of being done and would be  reported as part of the 
next cycle, covering periods 2 to 4.

 The report showed that planning applications were down for 
the quarter.  Would this have an effect on income?

o Members were advised that quarterly figures only 
reflected a small point in time, and that the highlight 
figure would be at the end of the year.  The 
Authority was on track to show an increase in 
income.  Planning fees had recently increased by 
20% so revenue next year would be in line with the 
past year and would thus balance out.  The end of 
financial year was the best time to get a true 
reflection of the situation.

 Would the increase in fees be used within planning service?
o Yes, these amounts were ring fenced to be used in this 

way. A report would be provided to full Council in due 
course as to how the Authority was dealing with this.

 The Council Tax in year collection rate was 0.54% behind 
target.

o The profiling of debt pushed back to end of financial 

Page 54



- 24 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 6 
February 2018

year was being looked at, and this was currently 
more than last year’s debt that was collectable. The 
in year collection rate should be at target by the end 
of the financial year.

 Members commented that consideration should perhaps be 
given to whether any increase in Council Tax was linked to 
amounts that could not be collected.  It was still too early to 
see a trend.

o Officers commented that for 2017/18, officers would 
need  to look at changes to the Council Tax Support 
Scheme. There were a number of factors 
contributing to changes in the current year.  It was 
sometimes difficult to collect the smaller amounts 
owing.

AGREED:

That the report be noted.

(The Senior Business Intelligence Officer and the Business 
Intelligence Officer left the meeting following discussion of the 
above item). 

42 CATERING LEASE SOUTH HOLLAND CENTRE 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Place, which provided background on why the decision to renew 
the catering lease at the South Holland Centre had to follow the 
urgent procedure.

Members raised the following concerns:

 In view of the fact that the contract we due for renewal, why 
had the process not been started sooner?

o Arrangements had started to be made in September 
2017 to move forward with the contract renewal 
process.  However, there had then been a delay 
resulting in the urgency procedure being used in 
respect of the Portfolio Holder Decision being used 
to ensure continuity of service.  With regard to 
contractual arrangements, all terms for the outgoing 
contractor had been followed.  In the future, the 
Contracts Team would pick up new contract 
procedures – contract renewals would be looked at 
sooner and this situation should not happen again.

 Why did the previous contractor not wish to continue?
o The Authority had been aware that the contractor 

Page 55



- 25 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 6 
February 2018

may not wish to renew the contract however, formal 
notification was not received until December 2017.  
Members were advised that the reason for non-
renewal would be sought and shared with them in 
due course.

 Members asked why the contract was not advertised.
o The reasons would be addressed with the relevant 

department.  Moving forward, the Contract Team 
would work with departments to ensure these issues 
did not happen again.

 Members commented that there had been a general lack of 
communication throughout the whole process, between 
officers/departments and with members. This had to be 
improved in the future. 

The Chairman stated that the urgency provision for the decision 
had been agreed on the provision that this report came forward to 
the meeting, allowing the Panel to raise its concerns.  He 
reiterated that in the future, contracts should be dealt with in the 
correct way and in a timely fashion.

AGREED:

a) That the content of the report be noted;

b) That a report be brought back to the Panel in six months time 
to outline future catering contract options; and 

c) That future contracts be dealt with in a correct and timely 
fashion.     

GM, CM, 
RW 

MS 

43 STREET SCENE 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Place which provided information requested by the Panel in 
respect to how ‘Street Scene’ was undertaken and managed in 
South Holland.  

Members considered the information detailed within the report, 
and the following points were raised:

 Friends of Holbeach Parks had contacted the Authority with 
regard to acquiring grant money to install play equipment, but 
had received no written confirmation.

o Officers advised that they would look into this and 
respond in due course. 

Page 56



- 26 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 6 
February 2018

 Did day to day cleansing and planting take place outside of 
Spalding?

o Officers advised that they would find the detail to 
this and feed back in due course.

 Did Spalding football club pay for the maintenance of the 
pitches at the Sir Halley Stewart Playing Field?

o Members were advised that the football club only 
leased the building, and that the field was for the 
people of Spalding. 

 Was the Authority pursuing arrangements with other partners 
to undertake work on cleaning the river – this would be a 
mutually beneficial arrangement.

o The Authority worked with the River Agency to 
undertaking cleaning of the river, and this was done 
twice a year. 

o Councillor Gambba-Jones commented that the 
River Welland was not navigable.  The Authority 
worked with the Environment Agency with regard to 
the Water Taxi, but it was very difficult to get others 
on the waterway. Innovative ways of keeping the 
waterways clean were always being considered.

AGREED:

That the report be noted. 

44 ENFORCEMENT UPDATE 

Consideration was given to the report of the report of the 
Executive Director Place which provided members with an update 
on enforcement activity following the Place Review.

A key change to the Authority’s operation model was to 
strengthen the integration of enforcement activity across the 
Communities, Environmental, Housing and Operational Assets 
services.  In essence, all environmental enforcement activity had 
moved to the Communities Service to enable a more consistent 
and effective approach.  Stronger links had been established 
across teams for case work and interventions to support joined up 
and cohesive enforcement action.

An issue of concern to members and the public was fly tipping.  
The report provided information on how this was dealt with by the 
Authority, and members were advised of costs for prosecutions.  
It was expected that fixed penalty notices would go up for 

Page 57



- 27 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 6 
February 2018

offences such as littering.  

Members considered the information detailed within the report 
and the following issues were raised:

 With regard to the campaign to raise awareness of fly tipping, 
had results been measured to check if this had been 
successful?

o Members were advised that it was currently too 
early to say if it had been successful, but that this 
would be monitored.

 Members responded that a long, concerted and high profile 
effort was required, and not just from this particular district.

 With regard to  anti social behaviour and fly tipping, members 
commented that it would be useful for them to be provided 
with specifics of where these incidents were taking place in 
specific wards, and of any action taken.

o Officers stated that a new case management 
system was being introduced in the next financial 
year which would help monitor hot spot locations 
and action taken.  It would be able to run reports 
based on location.  The team was also working on 
how best to capture ward specific data.

 Issues around enforcement were not only a problem in South 
Holland – was the Authority benchmarking against other 
areas?  T

o Enforcement and Community Safety was 
benchmarked against other Lincolnshire districts 
and with Breckland District Council.  There was 
further work taking place on consistency of data and 
criteria. 

 How often was the Community Safety Partnership newsletter 
published?

o Members were advised that this usually came out 
following each meeting of the Partnership, which 
were held quarterly.  This countywide partnership 
had recently been reviewed and communications 
was a key focus area, but consideration was being 
given to providing these more quickly.

 Engagement with families regarding anti social behaviour 
seemed haphazard – engagement needed to happen at an 
earlier stage.

o Early intervention with a view to preventing incidents 
from escalating was a key focus of the work.  

Page 58



- 28 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 6 
February 2018

Officers had met with Children’s Services that week 
to develop this further.

DECISION:

a) That the report be noted; and

b) That a further update on enforcement be provided to the Panel 
in six months time.

(The Executive Director Place, the Place Manager, the 
Environmental Services Manager, the Communities Manager, the 
Portfolio Holder Place and the Portfolio Holder Communities and 
Facilities left the meeting following discussion of this item). 

EH, CM 

45 LOCAL COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME 2017/18 UPDATE 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Commercialisation which updated members on the effect of 
changes made to the 2017/18 Council Tax Support scheme.

Following consultation in 2016, a number of changes to South 
Holland’s 2017/18 Council Tax Support scheme for 2017/18 for 
working age claimants were agreed, and these changes were:

 Second Adult Rebate – Reduced to 20% in 2017/18 (10% in 
2018/19 and zero from 2019/20);

 Introduced a minimum level of Council Tax Support at £5 per 
week;

 Increased non-dependent deductions by 10%;
 Restrict Council Tax Support to Band D Council Tax;
 Capital Limit reduced to £8,000;
 Lower capital threshold reduced to £3,000;
 Maximum level of Council Tax Support available reduced to 

70%;
 Family premium for new claims made removed.

The Panel considered the report and the following issues were 
raised:

The full effect of any changes would not be known until the end of 
the financial year.

 Members commented that the report did not address some of 
the questions the Panel had – particular expansion was 
required on the following points: a) Section 4.2, the in-year 
collection rate for the previous year was requested; b) Section 
4.4, with regard to summons, how many of these were as a 

Page 59



- 29 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 6 
February 2018

result of the effects of the changes and what was the 
additional cost of these summons; c) 4.7 – how many people 
had been affected by this change and were in arrears pile?; d) 
5.1 – this did not advise if there was a trend of unsuccessful 
claimants.

o Members were advised that they would receive 
some feedback on these points.  The system that 
was used was parameter-based so it may not be 
possible to provide information in the depth 
requested however, as much information as 
possible would be provided to members.

 Had there been an increase in the number of Council Tax 
appeals (in respect of how earning and income were 
calculated)?

o Members would be provided with these figures in 
due course.

AGREED:

a) That the report be noted; and

b) That members be provided with information requested when 
available.

(The Head of Services, Revenues and Benefits (CPBS) and the 
Operational Benefits Manager, Revenues and Benefits (CPBS) 
left the meeting following discussion of this item). 

SH, CM 

46 PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL WORK PROGRAMME 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Manager 
Governance, which set out the Work Programme of the 
Performance Monitoring Panel.  The Work Programme consisted 
of three separate sections, the first setting out the dates of the 
future Panel meetings along with proposed items for 
consideration, and the second setting out the Task Groups that 
had been identified by the Panel.

Consideration was given to the report, and the following issue 
was raised:

Public toilets  - it had been suggested that the Panel consider 
setting up a task group to look at the locations, costs and 
refurbishment of all public toilets within the district that were the 
responsibility of the Authority, and to consider their actual usage.  
Members commented that some years ago, a similar task group 
had been set up and that any new task group should consider the 

Page 60



- 30 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 6 
February 2018

work and outcomes of the previous one.  It was agreed that a task 
group should be set up and that work should commence as soon 
as possible.

AGREED:

a) That the Work Programme report provided by the Executive 
Manager Governance be noted;

b) That a task group be set up to look at the locations, costs and 
refurbishment of all public toilets within the district that were 
the responsibility of the Authority, and to consider their actual 
usage; and

c) That membership of the task group be sought and work 
commenced at the earliest opportunity. 

CM 

47 ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
URGENT 

There were no urgent items. 

(The meeting ended at 9.15 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



1

KEY DECISION PLAN Issued – 23 April 2018

Representations in respect of all the matters shown should be sent in writing, at least one week before the date or period the decision 
is likely to be made, to: 

 Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk

The Key Decision Plan shows all Key decisions that the Council is likely to make over the next twelve months

The Key Decision Plan is updated on a rolling basis and shows the decisions that will be considered and the date when the decision is 
expected to be made. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed within this document, unless otherwise 
stated, come into force and may then be implemented on the expiry of a 5 working day call-in period  from the date of publication of 
any decision.  

Key decisions are: “A decision which, in relation to an executive function, has a significant effect on communities in two or more 
Wards of the Council and / or is likely to result in the Authority incurring expenditure, generating income or making savings in any 
single financial year above the threshold of £75,000 in respect of revenue expenditure and £180,000 in respect of capital expenditure.”

Significant decisions are: 1. A decision made in connection with setting the Council Tax; 2. A decision to approve any matter relating 
to a Policy or Strategic Plan; 3. Any non-Executive decision which significantly affects the community in two or more wards or electoral 
divisions. Some of the decisions will be recommendations to full Council, particularly if they impact on the Budget and the Policy 
Framework (comprising of statutory plans and strategies)

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

P
age 63

A
genda Item

 11

mailto:demservices@sholland.gov.uk


PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

2

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION
Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health

Award a contract 
for removal of 
Concrete Finlock 
Gutters and 
replacement to 
216 Council 
owned dwellings

To award a contract. Meetings and discussions. Officer Decisions Not 
before 5th Mar 2018

Portfolio Holder 
for Public 
Protection

Corporate 
Enforcement 
Policy

To review and update the Corporate 
Enforcement Policy creating one single 
policy for South Holland and Breckland 
Council

Meetings and discussions. Corporate 
Enforcement 
Policy

Cabinet 29 May 2018

P
age 64



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

3

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION
Portfolio Holder 
for Finance

Holbeach Food 
Enterprise Zone

To seek approval for the Council to 
invest in the delivery of the Holbeach 
Food Enterprise Zone

Meetings and discussions. Cabinet 29 May 2018

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health

CSU Building 
Materials 
Contract

To award a contract. Portfolio Holder for 
Housing. 

Meetings and discussions. 

Housing Landlord 
Manager Before 30 Jun 
2018

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health

CSU Electrical 
Materials Supply 
Contract (EMSC) 
2017 - 2021

To award the EMSC to the successful 
supplier from the outcome of the 
procurement process

Meetings and discussions Officer Decisions Before 
30 Jun 2018

P
age 65



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

4

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION
Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health

New sewerage 
maintenance 
contract for 
council housing 
stock

To award new sewerage maintenance 
contract for the housing stock.

Portfolio Holder for 
Housing Landlord, 
Housing Manager.

Informal meetings and 
discussions.

Housing Landlord 
Manager Before 30 Jun 
2018

Portfolio Holder 
for Place

Lincolnshire 
Waste 
Partnership - 
Joint Municipal 
Waste 
Management 
Strategy

To consider the adoption of the Joint 
Municipal Waste Management 
Strategy

Meetings and discussions Lincolnshire 
Waste 
Partnership - 
Joint Municipal 
Waste 
Management 
Strategy

Cabinet 20 Nov 2018

*Cabinet Membership

P
age 66



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

5

The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader)
Councillor C N Worth (Deputy Leader of the Council)
Councillor M G Chandler (Deputy Leader)
Councillor A Casson (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor P E Coupland (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor R Gambba-Jones (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor C Johnson (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor C J Lawton (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor G J Taylor (Portfolio Holder)

If you have any comments or queries regarding any of the entries in the Key Decision Plan please contact:

Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk

P
age 67

mailto:demservices@sholland.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Director, Strategy and Governance – Maxine O’Mahony

To: Performance Monitoring Panel - 2 May 2018 and Cabinet 29 May 2018

Author: Charlotte Paine – Senior Business Intelligence Officer

Subject: Performance Overview Report – Quarter 4 2017/18

Purpose: To provide an update on Council performance for the period 1 January 
2018 to 31  March 2018

Recommendation(s): 

1)  To note the content of the report

1.0 BACKGROUND

The Quarter 4 2017/18 Performance Report (Appendix A) aims to provide Members 
and residents with information about how the Council is delivering its services and 
how it is progressing against its Corporate Priorities.  The covering report highlights 
in further detail some of the indicators within the performance report.

Areas where performance has improved are brought to Members’ attention, as are 
areas of concern where performance is below expected levels or is considered to be 
worsening.

Key Performance Indicators

Quarter 4 saw performance drop slightly in comparison to quarter 3. Performance is 
rated as ‘moderate’ with 10 indicators being green (48%) which indicates good 
performance. There are 3 (14%) amber indicators and 8 red indicators (38%); 
highlighting lower than expected performance. There are 6 indicators which are 
classified as data only; this means that they are monitored without requiring a target.

Q1
2015/16

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
2016/17

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
2017/18

Q2 Q3 Q4
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Red Amber Green

Performance Indicator Status FY 2017/18

Page 69

Agenda Item 12



1.1 Areas of Success

Council Tax and Business Rates Collection

The Council tax in year collection rate is reported above the target for the end of the 
year, at 98.06% of collections received, this is £459,037.90 above what was targeted. 
Business Rate in year collection rate is also above target at 98.75% of collections 
received, this means £462,490.39 above target was collected in the year.

Planning Applications

The overall year outturn shows 91.18% of all planning applications received by South 
Holland District Council in the financial year 2017/18 were determined within agreed 
time frames with the indicator performing above target each month.

Housing Benefit LA error Rate

The LA Error rate currently sits at 0.22% which is below the level of error which could 
possibly incur financial penalty (above 0.48%). When compared to this time last year 
it is clear that the work done by the benefits team within CPBS has made a huge 
impact to turn performance around and ensured the LA error rate remains below 
target and on track to receive full subsidy for this financial year, subject to final audit.

Welland Homes Rent Collection

The amount of rent collected for Welland homes properties is a new indicator 
reported to the board. , Since rent collection recording started in July 2017, all 
properties are currently let and 100% of the chargeable rent has been collected. This 
figure will continue to be monitored to ensure maximum income is achieved.

1.2 Areas for Improvement

The following areas are either not achieving their target or are experiencing a 
significant decline in performance:

Missed Waste Collection
The final quarter of the year includes a higher proportion of misses for January. The 
sheer volume of material presented in early January resulted in collections being 
carried over to the following day. Many of these instances are actually recorded as 
being missed which resulted in an above target performance. The recent poor 
whether has also impacted on the indicator with many cases reported as missed 
where collections were unable to be made. 

Whilst this figure currently sits at 50.1, which is above target, please note that there 
were over 1 million collections in the period, of which 99.99% were completed as 
scheduled. 

Staff Turnover

Staff turnover for quarter 4 is significantly reduced compared to the previous quarter, 
though higher than the same period in the previous year. As previously reported, staff 
turnover for the year was expected to be higher due to the ongoing moving forward 
programme which saw a major service review in the Place directorate.

In this quarter, 13 of the 14 leavers were due to resignations. HR continue to offer 
leavers interviews in order to understand reasons for resignations and ensure any 

Page 70



areas for concern are addressed. Of the leavers in the reported quarter, there were a 
number of resignations within the probation period due to mutual consent. Reasons 
for staff turnover will continue to be monitored to ensure that any areas for concern 
are addressed, where there are patterns in resignations identified HR will be 
analysing and carrying out investigations where issues may be prevalent and this will 
be raised to PMP where required. 

Sickness

Quarter 4 has seen an unusual spike in the number of long term sickness cases, HR 
are currently working to identify trends but there are currently no specific areas of 
concerns. For March, 36% of the sickness occurrences were winter related with no 
other areas of multiple sickness identified.

All cases of long term sickness are being case managed with a HR business partner 
actively working with the service manager to ensure effective 2 way communication 
with those off sick, identification of occupational health referrals where necessary, 
along with any other possible interventions in order to ensure the employee can 
return to work as soon as possible. All sickness policy and procedures are being 
followed with HR monitoring managers are aware of staff sickness triggers and how 
to manage such triggers using the sickness policy. 

HR are currently undertaking a benchmarking exercise to understand other local 
authority sickness rates and what can be learnt from other authorities, comparable 
Q4 data is not available, however when comparing last year’s SHDC data, the 
reported figure is about the same as last year.

Housing Voids

Following the service review and new structure in the housing team, there have been 
a number of proposed changes considered to improve service delivery, including how 
voids are dealt with. This has highlighted key areas which need to be further 
investigated and scoped for improvement. The housing service have advised that 
during this period it is likely that the reported figures will continue to be below target 
whilst they analyse the data and working procedures to consider improvement 
opportunities. The housing service will be in attendance at Performance Monitoring 
Panel in order to discuss this with members and give assurances of the work under 
way which is producing an action plan detailing how the service is looking to improve.

Performance Framework Changes

We would like to make the board aware that as part of this year’s corporate planning 
and performance framework review, there are a number of proposed changes to the 
performance framework which will result in a recommendation to edit the indicators 
being reported. The reason behind this is to ensure that the indicators reported align 
with the refreshed corporate plan and that we monitor delivery of the plan and give 
the board a strategic overview of the council’s performance. 

Further details of this will be provided with the proposal to report the new indicators 
as of Q1 2018/19.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Members are asked to consider the information contained within the report.

Page 71



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 Report for consideration, in order to fulfil the Performance Monitoring Panel’s remit.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The Council’s performance is properly scrutinised.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Constitution & Legal

 The report is made within the terms of reference of the Performance Monitoring 
Panel.

5.2 Corporate Priorities

The report presents progress monitoring of performance of the corporate priorities.

5.3 Financial

The report contains information on Council’s performance which does convey some 
information relating to financial matters.

5.4 Reputation

Performance issues can cause some reputational consequence.  It is the purpose of 
this report to highlight performance issues at an early stage.

5.5 Risk Management

Performance issues may be subject to risk management measures to protect Council 
interests.

5.6 Staffing

The report contains information relating to staffing issues.

6.0     WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

6.1     No Wards or Communities are affected 

7.0     ACRONYMS 

PMP – Performance Monitoring Panel
LA – Local Authority

Background papers:- None

Page 72

file:///C:/Users/CharlottePaine/Democratic%20Services/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Lead Contact Officer

Name and Post: Charlotte Paine – Senior Business Intelligence Officer

Telephone Number: 01362 656347

Email: charlotte.paine@breckland-sholland.gov.uk 

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting

Name and Post: Charlotte Paine – Senior Business Intelligence Officer

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Quarter 4 Performance Report

Page 73

mailto:greg.pearson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

2017/18 Q4 SHDC PMP Report

Generated on: 12 April 2018

         

         

Indicator % of Customer Complaints Upheld - Stage 1 Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

# of complaints upheld Total # of complaints Value

Q4 2016/17 8 54 14.81%

Current Performance

# of complaints upheld Total # of complaints Value

Q4 2017/18 6 57 10.53%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Complaints upheld as a % 
of all stage 1 complaints 
closed in period 
This is calculated using the 
number of complaints 
upheld divided by the total 
number of complaints 
closed in the period 

 

25%

 

A lower % is better as we look to reduce the 
number of complaints upheld for an SHDC 
error 

In Quarter 4 there were 6 complaints upheld out of 57, when 
compared to last year the number of complaints received has 
increased slightly whilst the number upheld has reduced, leading to a 
reduction in the percentage.

      

 

        

P
age 75



2

Indicator % of Customer Complaints Upheld - Stage 2 Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

# complaints upheld # complaints received 
in previous period

Value

Q4 2016/17 0 3 0%

Current Performance

# complaints upheld # complaints received 
in previous period

Value

Q4 2017/18 0 6 0%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Complaints upheld as a % 
of all stage 2 complaints 
closed in period 
This is calculated using the 
number of complaints 
upheld divided by the total 
number of complaints 
closed in the period 

 

25%
 

A lower % is better as we look to reduce the 
number of complaints upheld for an SHDC 
error 

There were no complaints upheld at stage 2 out of 6 received.

Indicator % of Calls Abandoned Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Calls Abandoned Calls Received Value

Q4 2016/17 2,482 30,226 8.21%

Current Performance

Calls Abandoned Calls Received Value

Q4 2017/18 2,545 32,227 7.9%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

% of calls that are 
abandoned (call 
terminated prior to 
answering), excluding 
those abandoned within 5 
seconds. 
 
This is a combined 
measure across Customer 
Contact, Revenues and 
Benefits calls 

 

Data Only 
 

A lower % is better as we look to answer more 
calls

The percentage of calls abandoned has gone up as is the usual trend 
for this quarter when we see more contact regarding council tax 
letters as well as a natural peak in calls after Christmas. Despite the 

P
age 76



3

increase in calls, the abandonment rate is less this year showing a 
good performance is maintained.

         

         

Indicator Average Wait Time in Seconds Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Total time waiting Total number calls 
received

Value

Q4 2016/17 N/A N/A 107.22

Current Performance

Total time waiting Total number calls 
received

Value

Q4 2017/18 N/A N/A 108.22

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Average time to answer 
phone calls in seconds 
This is measured across 
customer services, 
revenues and benefits 
calls. 

 

 Data Only
 

A lower number is better as it indicates less 
time waiting for a call to be answered

The increase in the number of calls has had an impact on the average 
wait time in seconds, however, this is still reported at less than 2 
minutes, a good performance given the volume of calls received.

       

 

 

         

P
age 77



4

Indicator % of household waste recycled or composted Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Recycled and 
Composted Tonnes

Total Waste Tonnes Value

Q4 2016/17 2297.26 7990.60 31.03%

Current Performance

Recycled and 
Composted Tonnes

Total Waste Tonnes Value

Q4 2017/18 2486.06 7681.10 29.86%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

% of household waste 
which has been recycled 
and composted (includes 
garden waste) against all 
the household waste 
collected

 

 30%

 

A higher % is better as we look to recycle or 
compost more waste

The final quarter of the year includes the post-Christmas and new 
year period where the quantity of materials presented, both refuse 
and recycling, is high.

The amount of material sent to the energy from waste plant (refuse), 
although not excessively high for the period, was high enough to 
have an effect on the percentage of waste recycled.

The expectation is that the position will return to being more stable 
in the next quarter. 

         

       

 

 

P
age 78



5

Indicator Missed Waste Collection Rate Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Number of missed 
collections

Per 100,000 collection 
figure

Value

Q4 2016/17 521 10.185 51.2

Current Performance

Number of missed 
collections

Per 100,000 collection 
figure

Value

Q4 2017/18 510 10.185 50.1

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Number of missed 
collections per 100,000 
people 

 

33.0

 

A lower number is better as we look to ensure 
fewer waste collections are missed

The final quarter of the year includes the predicted higher misses in 
January. The sheer volume of material presented in early January 
resulted in collections being carried over to the following day. Many 
of these instances are actually recorded as being missed. The period 
of adverse weather which affected the District also had an impact on 
the number of missed bins reported.

Despite being over target, 99.99% of collections were completed as 
scheduled. 

         

         

P
age 79



6

Indicator Waste sent to 'Energy from Waste' per Household (kg) Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2016/17 N/A N/A 48.2

Current Performance

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2017/18 N/A N/A 46.5

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Number of Kg’s of residual 
waste collected per 
household sent to Energy 
from Waste 
Calculated by 'residual 
waste collected' x 1000 
then divided by number of 
households waste has 
been collected from 

 

45.0

 

A lower number is better as we look to reduce 
the amount of waste sent for incineration 

The final quarter of the year includes the post-Christmas and new 
year period where the quantity of materials presented is high.

Although higher than the standard target, an additional amount of 
1.5kg / property for the period is a reduction on that reported for the 
same period last year. 

Indicator Commercial Property Occupancy Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Number of units let Total number of units Value

Q4 2016/17 50 50 100%

Current Performance

Number of units let Total number of units Value

Q4 2017/18 49 50 98%

Occupancy levels of the 
council's industrial units 

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

P
age 80



7

 

90%

 

A higher number is better as we look to rent 
out as many council owned industrial units as 
possible

This indicator continues to perform above target with 49 out of 50 
units occupied. Currently there are policy changes being reviewed 
with the commercial units which is why the last unit has not been let 
at this stage.

         

         

Indicator Staff turnover % Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Number of leavers in 
period

Total number of staff 
in period

Value

Q4 2016/17 8 251 3.19%

Current Performance

Number of leavers in 
period

Total number of staff 
in period

Value

Q4 2017/18 14 220 6.36%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

% of total leavers against 
total number of staff 
employed in period 
(includes involuntary 
leavers) 
 
Target is 10% which has 
been benchmarked 

 

2.5%
 

Lower is better as we look to retain staff Staff turnover remains above the red threshold with 14 staff leaving 
the organisation in quarter 4, 13 of these were resignations, and 1 
member of staff retired. There were 3 new starters in this period.

        

         

P
age 81



8

Indicator Working Days Lost to Sickness per FTE Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Number of days lost Number of FTE Value

Q4 2016/17 N/A N/A 3.68

Current Performance

Number of days lost Number of FTE Value

Q4 2017/18 677.91 198.59 3.41

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Total number of working 
days lost per Full Time 
Equivalent. 
This is calculated by taking 
the number of days lost to 
sickness and dividing it by 
the number of full time 
equivalent staff in the 
period 

 

2.5
 

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
amount of working time lost to sickness 

The number of working days lost to sickness is above the target 
threshold with 52 instances of short term sick and 29 instances of 
long term sick recorded in the quarter.

Indicator Working Days Lost to Long Term Sickness per FTE Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Number of days lost - 
long term

Number of FTE Value

Q4 2016/17 N/A N/A N/A

Current Performance

Number of days lost - 
long term

Number of FTE Value

Q4 2017/18 522.12 198.59 2.629

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Number of working days 
lost per Full Time 
Equivalent for long term 
sickness. 
This is calculated by taking 
the number of days lost to 
long term sickness and 
dividing it by the number 
of full time equivalent staff 
in the period 

 

 Data Only
 

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
amount of working time lost to sickness 

There were 8 instances of long term sickness in Jan, 7 in Feb and 14 
in March, all long term sickness cases are being case managed by a 
HR Business partner and working with occupational health to ensure 

P
age 82



9

the member of staff can return to work as quickly as possible.

         

         

Indicator Working Days Lost to Short Term Sickness per FTE Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Number of days lost - 
short term

Number of FTE Value

Q4 2016/17 N/A N/A N/A

Current Performance

Number of days lost - 
short term

Number of FTE Value

Q4 2017/18 164.82 198.59 0.83

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Number of working days 
lost per Full Time 
Equivalent for short term 
sickness. 
This is calculated by taking 
the number of days lost to 
long term sickness and 
dividing it by the number 
of full time equivalent staff 
in the period 

 
Data Only 

 
Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
amount of working time lost to sickness 

There were 10 instances of short term sickness in Jan, 20 in Feb and 
22 in March

       

 

 

         

P
age 83



10

Indicator Housing re-let (void) time (total ave. key to key) All Tenures Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Total # days void Total # properties void Value

Q4 2016/17 526.667 16.333 32 days

Current Performance

Total # days void Total # properties void Value

Q4 2017/18 2,155 58 37 days

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Total time in days from 
keys in to keys out - 
including major works for 
all tenures (General Needs 
and Sheltered Housing) 
This is calculated by total 
number of days properties 
remain vacant divided by 
the number or properties 
vacant in the period 

 

28 days
 

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
number of days vacant and therefore not 
receiving rent payments 

Please see covering report for detail

Indicator Housing re-let (void) time (Keys In to Keys Back from Contractor) - All Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Total # days void 
(contract)

Total # properties void Value

Q4 2016/17 1,152 49 24 days

Current Performance

Total # days void 
(contract)

Total # properties void Value

Q4 2017/18 2,040 58 35 days

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Total time in days from 
keys in from tenant to 
works completed by the 
contractor and the 
property is ready to be let 
This is calculated by total 
number of days all 
properties remained 
vacant whilst the keys are 
with the contractors to 
complete works divided by 
the total number of 
properties vacant in the 
period  

25 days
 

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
amount of time a property is vacant whilst 
works are completed 

Please see covering report for detail

P
age 84



11

Indicator Housing re-let (void) time (Contractor) - General Needs Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Total # days void 
(contract)

Total # properties void Value

Q4 2016/17 845 30 28 days

Current Performance

Total # days void 
(contract)

Total # properties void Value

Q4 2017/18 1,346 30 45 days

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Total time in days from 
keys in from tenant to 
works completed by the 
contractor and the 
property is ready to be let. 
This is only for 'general 
needs' properties 
This is calculated by total 
number of days general 
needs properties remained 
vacant whilst the keys are 
with the contractors to 
complete works divided by 
the total number of 
general needs properties 
vacant in the period 

 

25 days

 

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
amount of time a property is vacant whilst 
works are completed 

Please see covering report for detail

Indicator Housing re-let (void) time (Contractor) - Sheltered Housing Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Total # days void 
(contract)

Total # properties void Value

Q4 2016/17 102.333 6.333 16 days

Current Performance

Total # days void 
(contract)

Total # properties void Value

Q4 2017/18 694 28 25 days

Total time in days from 
keys in from tenant to 
works completed by the 
contractor and the 
property is ready to be let. 
This is only for 'sheltered' 
properties 
This is calculated by total 
number of days sheltered 
properties remained 
vacant whilst the keys are 

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

P
age 85



12

with the contractors to 
complete works divided by 
the total number of 
sheltered properties vacant 
in the period 

 

25 days

 

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
amount of time a property is vacant whilst 
works are completed 

Please see covering report for detail

         

         

Indicator Housing re-let (void) time (Letting) - General Needs Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Total # days void 
(letting)

Total # properties void Value

Q4 2016/17 152 30 5 days

Current Performance

Total # days void 
(letting)

Total # properties void Value

Q4 2017/18 80 29 3 days

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Total time in days for 
properties to be let after 
the works were completed 
by the contractor. This is 
only for 'general needs' 
properties 
This is calculated by total 
number of days general 
needs properties remained 
vacant whilst the property 
is waiting to be let after 
the contractors completed 
works divided by the total 
number of general needs 
properties vacant in the 
period 

 

3 days

 

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
amount of time a property is vacant for letting 
post works completion 

Please see covering report for detail

         

         

P
age 86



13

Indicator Housing re-let (void) time (Letting) - Sheltered Housing Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Total # days void 
(letting)

Total # properties void Value

Q4 2016/17 342 19 18 days

Current Performance

Total # days void 
(letting)

Total # properties void Value

Q4 2017/18 59 25 2 days

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Total time in days for 
properties to be let after 
the works were completed 
by the contractor. This is 
only for 'sheltered' 
properties 
This is calculated by total 
number of days sheltered 
properties remained 
vacant whilst the property 
is waiting to be let after 
the contractors completed 
works divided by the total 
number of sheltered 
properties vacant in the 
period 

 

3 days

 

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
amount of time a property is vacant for letting 
post works completion 

Please see covering report for detail

Indicator Housing re-let (void) time (Key to Key) - General Needs Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Total # days void (ktok) Total # properties void Value

Q4 2016/17 953 30 32 days

Current Performance

Total # days void (ktok) Total # properties void Value

Q4 2017/18 1,429 30 48 days

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Total time in days from 
keys in from tenant to keys 
out to the new tenant. This 
is only for 'general needs' 
properties 
This is calculated by total 
number of days general 
needs properties remained 
vacant divided by the total 
number of general needs 
properties vacant in the 
period  

28 days
 
Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
number of days vacant and therefore not 

Please see covering report for detail

P
age 87



14

receiving rent payments 

         

         

Indicator Housing re-let (void) time (Key to Key) - Sheltered Housing Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Total # days void (ktok) Total # of properties 
void

Value

Q4 2016/17 209 6.333 33 days

Current Performance

Total # days void (ktok) Total # of properties 
void

Value

Q4 2017/18 242 9.333 26 days

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Total time in days from 
keys in from tenant to keys 
out to the new tenant. This 
is only for 'general needs' 
properties 
This is calculated by total 
number of days general 
needs properties remained 
vacant divided by the total 
number of general needs 
properties vacant in the 
period 

 

28 days
 

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
number of days vacant and therefore not 
receiving rent payments 

Please see covering report for detail

     

 

   

         

P
age 88



15

Indicator Cases Prevented from Homelessness per 1,000 households Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2016/17 135 38.693 3.5

Current Performance

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2017/18 76 38.693 2.0

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

P1E Return - Prevention 
and Relieving of 
Homelessness 
Number of potentially 
homeless cases diverted 
from homelessness per 
1,000 households 

 

Data Only 

 

This is not a targeted measure. The number 
does not reflect % of cases prevented from 
homelessness and therefore will fluctuate 
dependent upon demand to the service. 

There were 76 cases of homelessness prevention for quarter 4 based 
on data taken from Northgate Housing Advice cases closed with an 
outcome description of 'Homelessness Prevented'

Indicator % of all planning applications determined within time Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

# planning apps 
determined in time

# planning applications 
received

Value

Q4 2016/17 194 202 96.04%

Current Performance

# planning apps 
determined in time

# planning applications 
received

Value

Q4 2017/18 157 183 85.79%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Number of planning 
applications determined 
within their statutory times 
divided by total number of 
applications received. 
Includes all application 
types (majors, minors, 
others) 

 
70%

 
Higher is better as we look to determine as 
many as possible within their timescales 

Above target, but below performance in previous months, due to 
number of factors including loss of long serving member of staff and 

P
age 89



16

sickness of Development Manager.

         

         

Indicator Housing Benefit LA Error Rate Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Error expenditure Total housing benefit 
expend

Value

Q4 2016/17 74,491.55 17,940,198.46 0.42%

Current Performance

Error expenditure Total housing benefit 
expend

Value

Q4 2017/18 37,143.89 16,720,839.04 0.22%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Local Authority error in 
Housing Benefit 
overpayment 
Amount of benefits 
overpaid divided by 
benefits paid (% of overall 
expenditure) 

 

0.42%

 

Lower is better as we look to minimise the 
amount of money paid in error and reduce the 
risk of financial penalty (which occurs above 
0.48%) 

LA error rate remained below target and on track to receive full 
subsidy for this financial year.

         

     

 

   

P
age 90



17

Indicator Business Rate In Year Collection Rate Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

In year collection 
amount

Total collectable debit Value

Q4 2016/17 26,831,278.3 27,188,532.08 98.69%

Current Performance

In year collection 
amount

Total collectable debit Value

Q4 2017/18 26,121,743.82 26,453,737.32 98.75%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Amount of Business Rates 
collected in the year 
against the total 
collectable debit 

 

97%
 

Higher is better as we look to collect as much 
of the business rates debit as possible 

Performance has exceeded the end of year target with an 
£462,940.39 collected above the target.

Indicator Council Tax In Year Collection Rate Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

In year collection 
amount

Total collectable debit Value

Q4 2016/17 40,353,989.17 41,099,923.27 98.19%

Current Performance

In year collection 
amount

Total collectable debit Value

Q4 2017/18 42,467,496.21 43,305,465.16 98.06%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Amount of Council Tax 
collected in the year 
against the total 
collectable debit 

 
97%

 
Higher is better as we look to collect as much 
of the Council Tax debit as possible 

Performance is in line with the end of year target with an 
£459,037.90 collected above the target.

P
age 91



18

Indicator % of due rent collected on Welland homes properties Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Due rent to be 
collected

Due rent actually 
collected

Value

Q4 2016/17 N/A N/A N/A

Current Performance

Due rent to be 
collected

Due rent actually 
collected

Value

Q4 2017/18 £10,144.7 £10,144.7 100%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

The percentage of rent 
collected from maximum 
possible rent to be 
collected

 

95%
 

Higher is better as we look to collect as much 
due rent from Welland Homes properties as 
possible

Properties are all now let and rent collection is on target, there have 
been no missed rent payments since the reporting period of this 
performance indicator.

Indicator New Homes - Affordable Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2016/17 N/A N/A 3

Current Performance

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2017/18 N/A N/A 14

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Number of affordable 
homes completed in the 
District the period 

 

 Data Only
 

Higher is better as we look to increase the 
number of affordable properties in the District

There were five affordable homes completed in March. 
These were two shared ownership properties in Spalding and three 
shared equity properties in the Countryside.

P
age 92



19

P
age 93



T
his page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Rob Walker Executive Director - Place

To: Performance Monitoring Panel, Wednesday 2 May 2018 

(Author: Richard Fidler Development Manager)

Subject Section 106 monies

Purpose: To respond to an information request from Performance Monitoring Panel 
from August 2017

Recommendation:

That the Panel note the report.

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

1.1.1 In August 2017, the Performance Monitoring Panel considered its future Work Programme 
and one of the issues raised was in relation to Section 106 agreements and what the 
money received is spent on.

Section 106 agreements are negotiated between the Planning Department and developers.  
Under the Government's National Planning Policy framework (NPPF), which sets out the 
Government's planning policies and how they should be delivered, the Council can only ask 
for funds for projects which meet the 'three tests':

 the project is necessary to make the development acceptable in Planning terms
 it is directly related to the development; and
 it is fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development

1.1.2 The vast majority of Section 106 agreements relate to major housing applications, with the 
3 most common areas relating to the provision of affordable housing, financial contributions 
towards education and health care provision.  These latter two are in response to requests 
from Lincolnshire County Council as the education authority and NHS England and the 
contributions are calculated using an established formula.  Until around 18 months ago 
LCC were parties to the S106 agreements, with payment made direct to them. In order to 
expedite the timeframe taken to conclude agreements Legal Services Lincolnshire are no 
longer routinely included as parties to S106 agreements.  The agreements are now written 
that the monies be paid to SHDC and then when requested by LCC the funds would be 
released.  This is the same situation for the NHS monies.  It needs to be noted that, to date, 
no development has yet hit a trigger point requiring the payment of an NHS contribution.

1.1.3 There are also a number of significant developments with more complex S106 agreements 
covering a wider range of obligations.  These include: the Spalding Energy Expansion, 

Page 95

Agenda Item 13



which includes significant financial contributions to community facilties, cycleways, 
apprenticeships and in the longer term to air quality monitoring, possible use of waste heat 
and ecology enhancements; Holland Park urban extension, which includes a new school, 
provision of open space;  community building, financial contribution to a bus service; capital 
sum for external improvements to the historic fabric to Spalding's town centre; provision of 
the first phase of the Western Relief Road, including a bridge over the railway line; 
provision of a health centre; traffic calming measures on The Parkway; Manor Farm, 
Holbeach, which includes financial contributions to Peppermint junction and Holbeach town 
centre junction improvements; provision of new school; financial contribution towards Call 
Direct bus service; community use of listed building on site; provision and maintenance of 
open space.

1.1.4 Monies are paid when the development reaches a certain stage, which might be when 
building starts; when the first house is sold and occupied; when the 100th house is occupied 
and so.  These stages are called 'trigger points'.  

1.1.5 There is usually a time limit on spending the money, most commonly 5 years.  If the money 
is not spent within this period it would need to be repaid to the developer.

1.2 Local Plan Policy

1.2.1 South Holland Local Plan 2006 includes Policy SG6 which reads as follows:

“Proposals for new development will be required to include measures to demonstrate how 
public infrastructure and services required to support the development will be delivered. 
The delivery of such services will be secured by planning conditions or legal agreements/ 
planning obligations.”

This has been the policy basis together with national policy for seeking appropriate 
planning obligations.

1.2.2 In terms of the future approach, the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan, which is now at the 
Examination stage will be the key policy document.  The South East Lincolnshire Joint 
Strategic Planning Committee’s Proposed Main Modification Document dated 12 April 2018 
sets out the latest position.  The extract relating to Policy 5 is included as Appendix A to 
this report.  Members should be aware that further changes to this policy could occur 
before the Local Plan is adopted.

1.3 Assurance Review of S106 Agreements – December 2017

1.3.1 It is acknowledged that effective monitoring of S106 agreements is necessary. This was 
reflected in the recent audit of Planning, which made two 'urgent' recommendations:

 A comprehensive review of all S106 agreements is to be completed, the review is to 
ensure that the records include all trigger points, both financial and other planning 
obligations, along with responsible officers.  This will reduce the risk that the Council 
overlooks/does not enforce all its S106 planning obligations and any financial loss 
and reputational damage to the Council.

 The Council is to assign responsible officers for monitoring financial and non-
financial obligations contained in S106 agreements, to monitor when trigger points 
are reached to ensure the Council receives the obligations.  A summary to be 
submitted to the joint Finance Board to provide oversight that obligations are 
monitored and received.  This will help to reduce the risks of the council missing out 

Page 96



of the vital benefits from the S106 agreements and developers reclaiming 
commuted sums not been spent in accordance with the required timescales.

1.4 Progress

1.4.1 Work is ongoing on addressing the issues raised in the audit report.   Planning, Legal and 
Finance are working on compiling an accurate and up-to-date spreadsheet detailing all 
S106 agreements, including amounts received and spent, relevant trigger points and 
responsible officers, plus procedures and resources for monitoring.

2 OPTIONS

2.1 That Members note the contents of the report and make comments, instructing officers as 
appropriate.

3 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 This is a factual report that does not require Members to make a formal decision.

4 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To provide Members with up to date and relevant information.

5 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation 
Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under 
one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

6 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All Wards affected

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Richard Fidler Development Manager
Telephone Number 01775 764428
Email: rfidler@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: N 

Exempt Decision: N 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Page 97



Appendix A: South East Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee’s 
Proposed Main Modification Document dated 12 April 2018 - extract 
relating to Policy 5

Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Place and/or Executive Director - Place

To: Performance Monitoring Panel Wednesday, 2 May 2018 

(Author: Clint Bell, Building Consultancy Manager) 

Subject Emergency Response

Purpose: Provide information on how the Authority would respond in an emergency 
situation. 

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the contents of this report are noted

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Under the Civil Contingencies Act (CCA) 2004, South Holland District Council as a 
Category 1 responder, has a duty to have plans in place to respond to and support an 
emergency, whilst at the same time maintaining its essential services to the local 
community. 

 
1.2 South Holland has a document titled ‘The Place – Emergency Response & Business 

Continuity Plan – 2017/18’. This document details the process of how SHDC will react in an 
emergency. 

1.3 There are a number of scenarios when the plan can be activated from, these include the 
following:
 After formal declaration of an Emergency / Major Incident by another Category 1 or 2 

responder 
 When asked for assistance by the Lincolnshire Resilience Forum (LRF) as part of a 

multi-agency response
 When a local incident can no longer be controlled by a service area 
 When more than one service area is affected by the incident 
 When demand for service exceeds capacity to deliver
 When loss of staff, premises or IT reaches a level that cannot be accommodated 

through normal contingency planning

1.4 The SHDC Duty Officer is the primary point of contact for both the emergency services and 
in case of an emergency. The duty officer is available 24 hours a day, 365 days of the year. 
Four SHDC managers share this role on a weekly rota basis.

 
1.5 There are two ways contact with the Duty Officer are made:

 During normal working hours - On receipt of contact from the Duty Officer the Chief 
Executive or a member of the Executive Management Team (EMT) will automatically 
become the lead officer and will take responsibility for the emergency and will nominate 

Page 101

Agenda Item 14



other officers to coordinate, investigate, act and liaise as necessary and form the 
Incident Management Team. 

 Outside of normal working hours – The SHDC Duty Officer will be contacted in the 
first instance by Lincolnshire County Council (Serco) Customer Service Centre. The 
SHDC Duty Officer will evaluate the request and take appropriate action.  This action 
may involve calling out other members of staff to help deal with the incident. The Chief 
Executive and Directors will be contacted if the scale of the Emergency warrants it.

1.6 Following initial reports of an incident there are four stages to be considered:
1.6.1 Standby. The incident could turn into an emergency.
1.6.2 Cancel. The incident is not an emergency and no further action will be required.
1.6.3 Declared. The incident is considered an emergency and will require further action.
1.6.4 Stand Down. The incident is over and can be reduced to normal operational level.

1.7 Following notification of an emergency being declared the SHDC Incident Response 
Diagram will be followed, see Appendix A.

1.8 If required the Incident Management Team (IMT) assemble will meet in the Incident Control 
Room. This will be Meeting Room F16 in the Management Hub, if this room is not available 
it will be established at either the South Holland Centre, the Castle Sports Complex or West 
Marsh Road.

1.9 The role of IMT is to co-ordinate the council’s response to an incident and provide strategic 
direction. Other council officers may be required to give advice to IMT.

1.10 Members of IMT may include the following:
1.10.1 Commanders
1.10.2 EMT
1.10.3 Human Resources
1.10.4 Communication Team

1.11 Incident Command Structure. Upon an emergency being declared, depending on the 
nature of it, the standard approach of Lincolnshire Resilience Forum (LRF) will be adopted:
1.11.1 Strategic Command (Gold). There are trained strategic commanders, all from 

EMT. These officers will take overall responsibility for the management of council 
staff and resources required. They will also establish the policy and strategic 
framework within which the lower tier command and co-ordinating groups will work.

1.11.2 Tactical Command (Silver). There are trained tactical commanders, made up from 
senior level representatives. These tactical commanders co-ordinate the tactical 
response in compliance with the plan. They will liaise between the strategic and the 
operational command.

1.11.3 Operational Command. There are trained operational commanders who will be 
involved at the actual incident scene. Their role is to assess the situation and 
provide regular updates to the tactical commander.

1.12 Once an emergency has been declared the plan has a copy of a checklist to check the 
correct steps are implemented during the incident. See Appendix B.

1.13 Types of incident. The plan deals with many types of incidents including the following:
1.13.1 Flooding
1.13.2 Industrial Incident / Explosion / Smoke Plume / Large Fires

Page 102



1.13.3 Evacuation
1.13.4 Animal Disease Outbreak
1.13.5 Early Warning of Severe Weather
1.13.6 Human Disease Outbreak

1.14 During any emergency we are entitled as a member of the LRF to call for aid from other 
members of the LRF. Other members are:
1.14.1 All other Local Authorities in Lincolnshire
1.14.2 Lincolnshire County Council 
1.14.3 Lincolnshire Police
1.14.4 Lincolnshire Fire & Rescue
1.14.5 East Midland Ambulance Service
1.14.6 Public Health England
1.14.7 Lincolnshire Public Health
1.14.8 Met Office
1.14.9 The Red Cross
1.14.10 Anglian Water
1.14.11 In-land Drainage Boards
1.14.12 The Ministry of Defence

1.15 Dangerous Structures. 
1.15.1 These types of emergencies are dealt with by Building Control. The on-call Building 

Control Officer is contacted in the same way as 1.5 above, but may in addition be 
contacted directly by either Lincolnshire Police or Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue.

1.15.2 Most dangerous structures can be dealt with directly by Building Control with no 
further action required. However if it is deemed to be a major incident then the 
Building Control Duty Officer would contact the SHDC Duty Officer to ask for further 
assistance and evoke and emergency as 1.5 above.

1.16 Stand Down. Once the emergency has been brought under control, clear instructions will 
be given to staff to stand down in the appropriate order. Following the emergency de-briefs 
will be held to make any improvements and amendments to the plan as required. The chair 
of IMT may appoint an officer to act as a co-ordinator for Community Recovery.

1.17 Recovery. After any emergency in our area we will always be the lead Agency for the 
recovery phase. An action plan will be produced when the recovery process begins 
detailing timelines for recovery of critical services and reconstitution of normal business 
operations.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Do nothing.

2.2 Note the contents of this report.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 This is a factual report into the process undertaken by the Council.

Page 103



4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To provide Members with relevant information and provide assurances the correct action 
will be taken.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Constitutional & Legal

5.1.1 The Council needs to have plans in place and react appropriately to an emergency under 
the Civil Contingencies Act (CCA) 2004.

5.1.2 The Council has to provide a service to react to dangerous structures under Section 77 and 
78 of the Building Act 1984. This service is provided by Building Control.

5.2 Health & Wellbeing

5.2.1 Early reaction to any emergency will help reducing and health and wellbeing issues.

5.3 Reputation

5.3.1 It is important SHDC reacts correctly to ensure there is no reputational consequence.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All wards and communities are affected.

7.0 ACRONYMS

7.1 CCA Civil Contingencies Act 

7.2 LRF Lincolnshire Resilience Forum 

7.3 IMT Incident Management Team

7.4 EMT Executive Management Team 

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Clinton Bell Building Consultancy Manager
Telephone Number
Email: cbell@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A SHDC Incident Response Diagram

Page 104



Appendix B Emergency Response Incident Checklist

Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Growth and Commercialisation and Executive Director - 
Commercialisation (S151)

To: Performance Monitoring Panel Wednesday, 2 May 2018

Author: Nigel R Burch - Acting Inward Investment Manager

Subject Economic Development update for Performance Monitoring Panel

Purpose: To provide an update on Economic Development over the last 6 months to the 
Performance Monitoring Panel

Recommendation(s): 

That the Performance Monitoring Panel note the contents of the updated report

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 In September 2016, the Performance Monitoring Panel received a report entitled ‘How 
Economic Development is undertaken and promoted within South Holland District Council’.

1.2 A briefing note was provided by the then Executive Manager for Growth and Prosperity 
outlining the structure and achievements of the service for consideration, which was noted 
and followed by a request for an update to come to the May 2018 meeting of the 
Performance Monitoring Panel.

1.3 The Acting Inward Investment Manager, in conjunction with The Interim Executive Manager 
Growth and Prosperity, have updated the briefing note at Appendix 1 with the latest 
position of the work that the service is doing, and opportunities that are arising within the 
department.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To take note of the updated report.
3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 This is a factual report that does not require members to make a formal decision.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The Performance Monitoring Panel will have an updated view of the work undertaken by 
the Inward Investment Department and how, via the Open for Business agenda and 
promotion of the Grants4growth project, the service is promoted and active within the 
Council and the wider district.

Page 109

Agenda Item 15



4.2 The Proposal to work with Opportunity Peterborough offers a much needed expert resource 
that will bring skills and additionality to the service in a measurable and controlled way at a 
time when a number of major projects are coming forward, opening up the District for 
commercial growth.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation 
Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under 
one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issue

5.1.1 The Inward Investment Service operates with Carbon Footprint and Environmental issues 
in mind, and promotes and employs good practice wherever appropriate.

5.2 Corporate Priorities

5.2.1 The work carried out by the Inward Investment Service fits the Councils Priority ‘to 
encourage the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth’

5.3 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.3.1 All Inward Investment activity promotes good employment practice including in relation to 
equal opportunities and diversity.

5.4 Health & Wellbeing

5.4.1 All activity carried out by the Inward Investment Service aims to strengthen the economic 
wellbeing of the district, and thereby to enhance the health and wellbeing of its residents.

5.5 Reputation

5.5.1 Grants4growth is already helping to enhance the Council’s reputation for delivery of 
multimillion pound funded projects, and the Opportunity Peterborough proposal offers 
further potential for the Council to enhance its reputation as an outward facing and forward 
thinking organisation that is committed to supporting high quality growth.

5.6 Risk Management

5.6.1 There is a risk that some development sites may not come forward as planned for a variety 
of reasons.

5.6.2 There is a risk that the economic climate could change, thus having an effect on the 
viability of the wider economy.

Page 110



5.6.3 There is a risk that Opportunity Peterborough may not deliver its objectives. The contract
will be supplemented by an agreed work programme with effective contract management
processes in place. These will include monthly reports and full reviews at 6 and 12
months.

5.7 Staffing

5.7.1 The Inward Investment Service Review will have implications for the employees working in
that team. The council’s policy on Managing and Supporting Change will be followed, and
staff will be supported through the Council’s established HR practices

5.8 Transformation Programme

5.8.1 This proposal supports the Councils Transformation Programme by strengthening our 
partnership approach towards service delivery

6 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All Wards are covered by the Economic Development Service.

7 ACRONYMS

7.1 None.

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Nigel R Burch, Acting Inward Investment Manager,

Jo Mills, Growth and Regeneration Consultant
 

Telephone Number 01775 764563
 
Email: nburch@sholland.gov.uk, 

Jo.Mills@Breckland-Sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: N 

Exempt Decision: N 

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

Appendices attached to this report:
 
Appendix A Updated information in response to the request from the September 

2016 meeting of Performance Monitoring Panel.

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A

Briefing note to Performance Monitoring Panel on how Economic Development is undertaken and 
promoted within South Holland District Council.

Update 2nd May 2018

 

 Inward Investment

Our key objectives activities and actions working to this priority to help deliver the Corporate Plan 
are: 

The Economic Development department already have a relationship with Opportunity 
Peterborough, who are the private, not for profit economic development arm of Peterborough City 
Council, founded in 2005. Their core responsibilities include marketing Peterborough to businesses 
to attract Inward Investment, engaging with local companies to support growth and development, 
and leading the city’s skills agenda to ensure the current and future talent pool is trained and work-
ready. As existing members of the Greater Cambridge Greater Peterborough Local Enterprise 
Partnership, South Holland District Council have now received a commercial proposition from 
Opportunity Peterborough for them to provide an Economic Development/Inward Investment 
resource to South Holland District Council. The proposal will also offer opportunities to develop 
approaches across the wider piece including Fenland and South Kesteven, whilst ensuring that South 
Holland retains a clearly differentiated identity and offer.

A proposal was approved by Cabinet on the 27th March 2018, enabling a number of resources to be 
provided by Opportunity Peterborough in conjunction with, and monitored by, the Economic 
Development and Investment Manager at South Holland District Council, details can be found in the 
Cabinet report for this meeting. An action plan will be developed over the next six months and we 
will be engaging with members as part of this process. These services will include promotion of 
South Holland to attract and land new inward investment, expert advice and guidance on business 
growth, Strategy and policy, and strategic funding. Within these headings will be resource to help 
with sector analysis, marketing collateral, promotional plan, enquiry management, stakeholder 
liaison, key account management/relationship management, support for the Councils Open for 
Business initiative, support for strategic funding applications, assistance in the development of bid 
writing plans, and review of submissions (critical friend approach) of applications prior to 
submission.

This contract will be closely monitored with regular contract management meetings, monthly 
reports to the Executive Director of Commercialisation, and 6 monthly reviews for the 2 year period 
of the contract (option to review continuation after 12 months)

The arrangement will be funded through a review of the Economic Development service which will 
be completed prior to the new arrangement commencing.

Business Engagement

The South Holland Business Breakfasts continue with the latest being held on 9th March 2018 where 
some 30+ people attended. Chaired by Cllr Nick Worth, and with Chief Executive Anna Graves in 
attendance, subjects discussed included an update to the businesses present on projects that the 

Page 113



Council are involved in, successful funding bids, and emerging opportunities that will be of interest 
to those businesses attending, including two issues that GLLEP board member Mark Tinsley has 
asked the group to discuss around water usage and a focussed view on which A road in South 
Holland to promote for ‘pinch point’ improvements. (We are also working with the communications 
team to promote the A47 dualling scheme which will have advantages for local businesses.)

The businesses present also endorsed the Council’s Open for Business proposal.

These meetings allow the Council to retain a close working relationship with many of the key 
businesses and stakeholders in the district, identified in the Inward Investment Departments Critical 
Business List, and to maintain awareness of any issues that may be emerging that could have a 
significant impact on the local economy. It also strengthens the relationship that the Economic 
Development Service and the Council as a whole have with businesses outside the regulatory 
framework that they are used to interacting with the Council within by taking a more private sector 
approach and understanding of our local businesses.

Skills

Work continues with the Skills services in both LEP’s, the Inward Investment Manager also sits on 
the steering group of the Sector Skills in the Workforce project, delivered across Lincolnshire by 
Calderdale College, funded by the Greater Lincolnshire LEP.

The 9th annual jobs fair is scheduled to take place on the 1st May and will this year be held at the 
Castle Sports Centre as, due to its popularity, it has outgrown the South Holland Centre. This 
collaboration with Job Centre Plus/DWP will be further strengthened now that DWP have moved 
into Priory Road.

A subgroup has been set up within the business breakfasts held by the Inward Investment team that 
has an aspiration to hold an event later in the year, probably September, working closely with the 
Skills Service who are part of the Greater Cambridge Greater Peterborough offer to which South 
Holland subscribe.

Relationships with Boston College are now being established to look at opportunities for joint 
working and support for businesses.

G4G 

Grants4growth is continuing to perform to target, now halfway through the practical part of the 
project with roughly half of the grant fund allocated. Latest figures from the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (formally DCLG) indicate that the project is currently delivering 
10% of the regions C1 and C2 targets, for 6% of the regions ERDF spend, potentially the best of any 
Growth Hub project. Grants4growth has also submitted an Expression of Interest to fund the project 
for a further three years from 2019 when the current project ends, this would take the project end 
date to late 2022. The contractual arrangement with Opportunity Peterborough will be beneficial, if 
we are successful in our EOI, in helping to assemble and write a full bid in summer 2018.

 Open for Business

Work continues apace across the Council to put together a comprehensive Open for Business offer 
led by the Chief Executive that, once formulated, will be tested with one or two ‘friendly’ businesses 
before being rolled out formally. Due to the number of key relationships that the Inward Investment 
Service has built up over a number of years, it will be a key component of any solution that is put in 
place. At the Business Breakfast held on the 9th March 2018, the companies present confirmed that 

Page 114



they would welcome the Open for Business approach, it is still our intention to test in a bit more 
detail with individual Managing Directors. The Inward Investment Manager tested the proposal with 
Green Partners, a company that produce almost 11 million bouquets for Lidl Supermarkets, on 
10/4/18 and they were very appreciative of the concept and welcomed the Councils approach.

Strategic Engagement

The Councils response to the East Midlands Rail Franchise Consultation was submitted on the 12th 
October 2017. The Inward Investment Team continue to monitor and feedback to any relevant 
consultations and policy documents via the Councils Virtual Policy Unit. 

We have also met with , and fed back in some detail discussing improvements to Spalding Station 
and the wider rail services, to one of the companies that are bidding for the new franchise, and will 
do the same to any others should they approach us.

We also wrote a response on behalf of the Council to the Growth Commissions call for evidence in 
January 2018.

We have been working with Opportunity Peterborough and Cambridge University to help to 
benchmark the key businesses in South Holland and the wider Peterborough/Cambridge economic 
area to enable the LEP to understand the economy across Greater Cambridge and Greater 
Peterborough, work that will be useful for the Opportunity Peterborough project.

Broadband

The Inward Investment Manager continues to attend the Broadband Stakeholder meetings, and will 
work with the County Council when they start to put together the Full Fibre Network bid later in 
2018. As of February 2018, 93.5% of premises in Lincolnshire have access to Superfast Broadband, 
with alternative solutions being considered for the remailing ‘hard to reach’ spots including the 
recently announced Gigabit Broadband Voucher scheme which will allow local SME’s to access a 
voucher worth £3000 to upgrade their business broadband to fast and reliable gigabit speed. We are 
actively promoting this scheme to local businesses.

Delivery

The roundabout and road infrastructure is now in place and open at Peppermint Park, Holbeach, , 
leaving the route open to the first stage of development by the University of Lincoln, to take place as 
soon as land, planning and utility contracts are finalised. The Local Development Order consultation 
finished at the end of March and is currently being evaluated. The site is being actively promoted, 
particularly by the County Council who took a presentation to MIPIM in Cannes, mid-March, the 
world’s leading property market showcase attended by developers from more than 100 countries. 
Funding is being assembled to enable the first tranche of utilities work to be commissioned, £3m of 
Growth Deal funding has already been secured. The University of Lincoln have submitted a reserved 
matters planning application for which a decision is anticipated towards the end of April 2018. 

A Food Enterprise Zone programme board has now been set up and the Executive Manager for 
Growth and Prosperity attends those meetings.

The Inward Investment Manager sits on the steering group of the Skills Support for the Workforce 
project, funded by the GLLEP and delivered by Calderdale College and is actively making the case for 
promotion into the Horticultural industry as well as Agriculture.

Page 115



We organise an annual Jobs Fair in conjunction with the Department of Work and Pensions, Sponsor 
a category in the Free Press Education Awards, and work with both Boston College and the 
University of Lincoln Holbeach Campus to promote apprenticeships.

Over the last year, the Inward Investment service has been working closely with the Department for 
International Trade, through Lincolnshire County Council, with a number of local businesses, helping 
to facilitate their growth plans and ensure that they can be delivered as quickly and painlessly as 
possible. This work is a core part of the Inward Investment role, and also fits seamlessly with the 
Councils Open for Business Agenda.

The Inward Investment Manager is currently engaged with a number of businesses across the district 
to help facilitate their growth, expansion and relocation plans.

There have also been 2 Inward Investment enquiries in the last 6 weeks, both from outside the 
district which are being followed up at the moment.

Investment in Economic Development

Following the successful bid for funding and build of 6 industrial units at Crease Drove Crowland, 
further need has been identified, and with some money in place for Phase 2 of the Crease Drove 
Development which has now been approved by Cabinet, we are working closely to support the 
delivery team on bringing this project forward.

Page 116



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Manager - Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer)

To: Performance Monitoring Panel –2 May 2018

Author: Christine Morgan – Democratic Services Officer

Subject: Performance Monitoring Panel Work Programme

Purpose: To set out the Work Programme of the Performance Monitoring Panel

Recommendation:

That the Panel gives consideration to the report and identifies any issues for discussion; 

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 This report records the issues for consideration that have been identified by the Panel for 
inclusion on its Work Programme.

1.2 Issues

1.2.1 Appendix A sets out the dates of future Panel meetings along with proposed items for 
consideration.  These items were either originally suggested by councillors or are being 
referred to the Panel from officers or the Cabinet.  This appendix will be updated as new 
items are identified.

1.2.2 Appendix B sets out the task groups that have been identified by the Panel.  The table 
shows:

 The name of the task group
 What it wants to achieve
 Key dates
 Membership of the task group
 When the task group will be reporting back to the Panel

1.2.3 It is hoped that in presenting the information in this way, and by having the report as a 
standing item on the agenda, it will record the issues identified by the Panel and provide the 
opportunity for councillors to monitor the progress of its Work Programme.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To note and consider the current status of the Work Programme.

2.2 To do nothing.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 To allow councillors to feed into the Panel’s calendar of Work Programme items and the 
Work Programme on a regular basis, to ensure that they stay relevant and up to date.

Page 117

Agenda Item 17



4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The calendar of Work Programme items and the Work Programme will provide councillors 
with up to date and relevant information.  Timelines for various calendar items and 
proposed task groups within the Work Programme are included within the appendices.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of 
the decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation 
Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under 
one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Corporate Priorities

5.1.1 In identifying issues for inclusion on the Work Programme, councillors consider the 
suitability of the subject, taking into account such considerations as whether the issue is 
strategic and significant and whether it is likely to lead to effective outcomes.  One of the 
indicators against which each potential task group is scored identifies how strongly the topic 
links to the Council’s key aims and priorities. 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 This report has no implications however, as individual items are progressed through the 
Work Programme, their impact on wards and communities will be assessed.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None.

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer

Name and Post: Christine Morgan
Telephone Number: 01775 764454
Email: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Work Programme Calendar
Appendix B Task Group Work Programme 2017/18

Page 118



 APPENDIX A

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL – CALENDAR OF WORK PROGRAMME 
ITEMS

Date of Meeting Agenda items

2 May 2018  Performance Overview Report – Quarter 4, 2017-18
 Emergency response – Report to detail SHDC’s procedure for 

dealing with an emergency response.
 Housing Allocations Policy – performance and amendments
 Section 106 monies – report detailing how the Authority 

proactively manages S106 agreements presently and how it 
will maximise opportunities in the future.

 Economic development – further information to be provided on 
what has been done, what lessons can be learned, and what is 
to be done in the future. 

 Commercialisation (1) – how effectively is the Authority 
managing commercial opportunities?  First report on Delivery 
Plan. 

 Crime and Disorder – Update report on community safety and 
how it is being delivered through the various tiers of Groups 
and Panels (including the East Lincs CSP and newly formed 
Lincolnshire CSP) – Update to be provided every six months 
by the Portfolio Holder for Community Development. Last 
discussed at 7/11/17 meeting where information around CCTV 
and the Council’s Anti-Social Behaviour Policy were 
considered – update to address issues raised at this meeting.

 Swimming Pool and Leisure Facilities Contract Task Group – 
update on progress of recommendations (last update received 
7 November 2017)

 Voids Task Group – Update report on progress in actioning 
recommendations of the Task Group

31 July 2018  Catering lease, South Holland Centre – To outline future 
catering contract options.

 Enforcement (to include fly tipping) – update report on how the 
Authority is addressing the various types of enforcement, 
following the Authority-wide reorganisation. (last update 
6/2/18)

 Performance Overview Report Q1 – 2018-19
 Are financial savings predicted from various re-organisations 

being delivered? (date to be confirmed)

26 September 
2018



13 November 
2018

 Performance Overview Report Q2 – 2018-19
 Report on the Application of the Council’s Vexatious Policy
 Cost of running the South Holland Centre (date to be 

confirmed)
 What areas of risk exist within Public Services for cost 

shunting, and how can this be avoided? (date to be confirmed)

Page 119



30 January 
2019

 Performance Overview Report Q3 – 2018-19

20 March 2019 
Future meetings 
2018/19 
municipal year, 
and items yet to 
be allocated.

 Commercialisation (2) – how effectively is the Authority 
managing commercial opportunities?  Second report, a 
general report around commercialisation.

 Health Inequality – Health Commissioning Group to be invited 
to a meeting to provide a presentation

For consideration later in the year

 Note: Following consideration of the Key Decision Plan, PMP and PDP have 
requested that a special Joint Meeting will be held to discuss the setting up 
of the South Holland Building Consultancy prior to it being considered by 
Cabinet (date to be confirmed).

****************
To be considered annually:

The Sir Halley Stewart Playing Field Task Group presented its Final Report to 
Council on 21 January 2015.  Its first recommendation was:

That the Council (i) advises the Charity Commission that the Task Group has 
considered the Commission’s Guidance on public benefit and is satisfied that the 
Council is compliant; (ii) provides a copy of this report to the Commission in order to 
outline the actions proposed by the Council; and (iii) invites  the Performance 
Monitoring Panel to appoint a Task Group on an annual (single meeting) basis 
for the specific purpose of ensuring that the Council remains compliant with 
Charity Commission Guidance.

Membership of Task Group to be agreed and meet on an annual basis to 
consider the issue.

Page 120



APPENDIX B

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL – WORK PROGRAMME 2017/2018

Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to achieve Date added 
to Work 
Programme

Date Work 
Commenced    

Membership 
of Task 
Group

Proposed date of 
report to Panel

Public Toilets Task Group To look at the locations, costs and 
refurbishment of all public toilets within the 
district that are the responsibility of the 
Authority, and to consider their actual usage.

Scope to be agreed at first meeting of the Task 
Group (To be confirmed).

6 February 
2018

23 April 2018 J R Astill
CJTH Brewis
T A Carter
GK Dark 
(Chairman)
PC Foyster

PMP - 26 
September 2018

Cabinet – 20 
November 2018

Swimming Pool and 
Leisure Centre Contract 
Task Group

To review the Spalding swimming pool and 
leisure centre, specifically:
 To consider performance, in relation to the 

contract, by the Authority and the 
contractor, particularly with reference to 
building maintenance and cleanliness, 
promotion of the facilities and reinvestment 
in the facilities;

 To look at the Council’s performance in 
monitoring the leisure facilities; and

 To learn from the outcomes of this scrutiny, 
to inform future contracts and contract 
monitoring.

1 December 
2015

21 January 
2016

J R Astill
T A Carter
G K Dark 
(Chairman)
J L King
A M Newton

30 August 2016

To Cabinet 8 
November 2016

Response and 
update on 
progress PMP 
4/2/17, 16/5/17 
and 7/11/17.
Next update 
2/5/18.

Performance of the re-
letting of voids Task 

To review the Council’s performance of re-
letting void properties and to make 

15 June 
2016

3 October 
2016

GR Aley 
(Chairman)

16 May 2017
To Cabinet 25 

P
age 121



Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to achieve Date added 
to Work 
Programme

Date Work 
Commenced    

Membership 
of Task 
Group

Proposed date of 
report to Panel

Group recommendations to help improve MD Booth
CJTH Brewis
TA Carter

July 2017

First update on 
progress PMP 
7/11/17, next 
update 2/5/18.

Sir Halley Stewart Playing 
Field Task Group

Recommendation of the original Task Group to 
appoint a Task Group on an annual (single 
meeting) basis for the specific purpose of 
ensuring that the Council remained compliant 
with Charity Commission Guidance.

15 June 
2016

Date to be 
confirmed.

GR Aley
JR Astill
GK Dark
PC Foyster
AM Newton

Effectiveness of CCTV 
Task Group

Purpose of Review – To establish the current 
situation with regard to CCTV and make 
recommendations to Cabinet on the way 
forward.

Terms of Reference – To examine the 
effectiveness of the SHDC CCTV service and 
prospects for future provision.

Panel received update on 8 April 2014 from the 
Portfolio Holder for Localism and Big Society 
on the position regarding CCTV.  Performance 
information will be available on the new system 
in the future, once it becomes operational.  

6 November 
2012 

21 November 
2012 

B Alcock
M Howard
R M Rudkin
D J Wilkinson 
(Chairman)

  
Membership 
to be 
considered 
following 
District 
Council 

Interim report to 
PMP 29 January 
2013 
Interim report to 
Cabinet 19 
February 2013.
Tracking of 
recommendations 
to PMP 26 March 
2013
Updates to PMP:
8 April 2014, and 
six-monthly 
thereafter. 

P
age 122



Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to achieve Date added 
to Work 
Programme

Date Work 
Commenced    

Membership 
of Task 
Group

Proposed date of 
report to Panel

The Task Group will remain in operation to 
scrutinise performance and will start to do 
this once the information becomes 
available.

Election 

Leisure Facilities Task 
Group

Joint Task Group 
incorporating members of 
the Performance 
Monitoring and Policy 
Development Panels. 

To make recommendations, regarding the 
present and future leisure     provision in South 
Holland.

1. By establishing what leisure provision the 
District Council presently provides, 
examining costs, resident satisfaction and 
competitiveness in order to identify ways of 
increasing income or reducing expenditure;

2. To understand what the District Council 
wishes to provide and what the public and 
major employers need; 

3. To examine the options for future provision 
either to be supplied by the Council, the 
private sector or shared management.

Agreed at PMP 25 November 2014 – A date 
for completion of the Business Plan looking at 
Leisure Services provision, being drawn 
together by the Community Development and 
Health Manager, be confirmed by the Assistant 

30 May 
2012

21 January 
2014

G R Aley 
(Chairman)
D Ashby
A Casson
G K Dark
R Perkins
S Slade
E Sneath
S Wilkinson

Lead Officer: 
Phil Adams

Membership 
to be 
considered 
following 
District 
Council 
Election

Interim report 
presented to joint 
PMP/PDP – 19 
August 2014 
To Cabinet 7 
October 2014
Tracking of 
recommendations 
to PMP 25 
November 2014
Update on leisure 
options to PMP 3 
March 2015 (PDP 
members to 
attend PMP 
meeting)

P
age 123



Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to achieve Date added 
to Work 
Programme

Date Work 
Commenced    

Membership 
of Task 
Group

Proposed date of 
report to Panel

Director Community, and that a joint meeting of 
the Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy 
Development Panel, for consideration of the 
document, be arranged.

Following consideration of the update to PMP 
on 3 March 2015 (PDP members were invited 
to attend), it was agreed that leisure provision 
must be a priority for the Council, and must be 
considered as a priority by the next 
administration following the District Council 
election.

The effectiveness of 
management companies 
set up to undertake 
maintenance on 
residential estates 
throughout the district 
past, present and for the 
future.

Scope to be confirmed. 25 
November 
2014

To be 
confirmed

To be 
confirmed

To be confirmed

P
age 124


	Agenda
	3 Crime and Disorder Update
	Appendix 1 for Crime and Disorder Update
	Appendix 2 for Crime and Disorder Update CCTV stats

	4 Swimming Pool and Leisure Facilities Contract Task Group
	Appendix 1 for Swimming Pool and Leisure Facilities Contract Task Group

	5 Review of Housing Allocations Policy
	6 Re-Letting of Void Properties Task Group
	7a) Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel
	7b) Performance Monitoring Panel
	11 Key Decision Plan
	12 Quarter 4 2017-18 Performance Overview Report
	Appendix 1 for Quarter 4 2017-18 Performance Overview Report

	13 Section 106 monies
	Appendix 1 for Section 106 monies

	14 Emergency Response
	15 Economic Development
	Appendix 1 for Economic Development

	17 Performance Monitoring Panel Work Programme
	Appendix A for Performance Monitoring Panel Work Programme
	Appendix B for Performance Monitoring Panel Work Programme


